
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 26 May, 2016

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 26 May, 2016, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr S Collins, Ms C J Cribbon, Mr T Doran, 
Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Ms N Khosla, 
Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr P Segurola, Ms B Taylor, Mr M J Vye, 
Mrs J Whittle and Vacancy (Virtual School Kent shared seat)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Apologies and substitutes 

A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 15 March 2016 (Pages 5 - 14)

A3 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 
February 2016, and brief verbal update (Pages 15 - 20)

A4 Chairman's Announcements 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 



B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Kent County Council Foster Carers Annual Survey 2016, in consultation with 

Kent Foster Carer Association (KFCA) (Pages 21 - 28)

B2 Kent County Council response to Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Children 
(Pages 29 - 36)

B3 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report (Pages 37 - 58)

B4 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent update report (Pages 59 - 72)

B5 Performance Scorecard for Children In Care (Pages 73 - 102)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Wednesday, 18 May 2016

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 15 March 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M J Angell (Substitute for Mrs J Whittle), Mr R H Bird (Substitute for Mr M J Vye), 
Mrs P T Cole, Ms S Dunstan, Mr T A Maddison (Substitute for Ms C J Cribbon), 
Mr B Neaves, Mr M J Northey (Substitute for Mr G Lymer) and Ms B Taylor

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mrs S Skinner (Service Business Manager, Virtual School Kent), Ms C Smith (Acting 
Head of Fostering) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

134. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

(OPEN ACCESS TO MINUTES)

135. The views of Young People in Care 
(Item 1)

A group of five young people attended to tell the Panel about their experiences of 
being in care and leaving care. They were supported by Julie, a social worker from 
the 18-plus team.

Everyone around the table introduced themselves.

Welcome to this meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel. Can you tell us 
about your experiences of coping at school and of leaving care?  Have you 
found any barriers or problems?
CC: I struggled to fit in, which gave me many problems, but I was well supported. I 
feel I now have the help and support that I need now I have left care. 

What caused these problems?  Did you move about a lot to new placements?
CC: No, I stayed in one place during that time.

JF: School was OK for me but I struggled to fit in.  Over time it got better and I feel 
OK.  Teachers and social workers were supportive. I found I had plenty of options at 
16-plus - sixth form, university, apprenticeships, etc.   

Page 5

Agenda Item A2



Did anyone tell you that your options were limited, because you were in care? 
JF: I was at school at level 1 when I entered care and my social worker and carer 
worked together to get me into grammar school, as that’s where I wanted to go.  I 
settled well after a few months. 

Was your education OK for you?  Did you get help and support with English as 
a second language?
MA: Yes I got help.  I would like to say Thank you very much for the help I was given 
by the County Council, which helped me a lot. This year I am studying bricklaying 
and next year I hope to do football coaching. 

M: The County Council helped me with English and maths at level 1 and with English 
as a second language.  In 2013 to 2014, at level 1, I studied well and had help with 
GCSE maths. 

How do these experiences compare to those of the VSK apprentices?
VSK apprentices: This is much the same as our experience. 

What have you learned from your experiences that has been helpful to you, or 
will be helpful to you, to help you manage as you leave care?  
CC:  My school did all it could to help me.  I would still have learnt life skills even if I 
had not got any GCSEs.

Did other pupils at school know about your care status, and did you have any 
problem with bullying because of it?
CC:  Yes they did know I was in care and I was bullied.  
What did the school do to deal with this? 
CC: Other people helped me to cope with this but this was because it was their job to 
do it; it was not their choice to help me.  
But you knew where to go to get help?
CC: Yes, finding help was OK. 

As you leave care and have to find a home, earn money and buy yourself food 
and clothes, do you find that the problems of being in care are still there? Is life 
still difficult for you? 
J: Yes, it’s stressful living on £250 per week; things build up. Costs go up all the time 
and this adds to the pressure, as costs are high compared to the benefits I get. I hate 
being on benefits; I really want to work, but I have no school qualifications in maths or 
English, or any experience, so it’s very difficult to get a job, and everything is paper-
based, which disadvantages me with English.  I keep trying to get off benefits and 
into work. 
What sort of work do you want to do?
J: Anything. I want to work – I’m 19. 

VSK apprentice, to J: we could possibly help you to find work, perhaps via the VSK 
apprenticeships scheme. The VSK job is excellent as you can study for an NVQ as 
part of it, and they could help you achieve level 1 in maths and English. 

J: I have sent out hundreds of CVs, looking for work. 

VSK apprentice: At VSK, your status as a care leaver is more important than your 
CV. We can help you to look into it – we’ll talk outside the meeting.  

Page 6



What is your current situation in terms of accommodation?
MA: I am in a Council house now, as I am over 18, after spending two years in 
County Council accommodation.  I moved to my Council house 3-4 months ago.  I 
have many bills to pay and I am on benefits. As I am in full-time education I cannot 
take up employment. At 16-plus I had £57.00 per week but when I worked for a while 
they stopped my benefits, so I had a while without money and had trouble paying for 
things like travel to college. I am now 21 and have a bus pass, but I have to pay to 
travel to study. 

It is difficult to struggle to work and make money while you also need to study, 
but you are lucky in having a Council house.  Did you have any help to furnish 
your home? 
MA: I had a £2,000 grant to set up.

M: I was at Millbank to learn about life in the UK, and there I learnt about food 
shopping and cooking. They provided accommodation for me but I could not stay 
there longer as it was too far away from where I wanted to study.  I was alone when I 
moved but I had help with accommodation and furnishing.  Where I am is quite good 
for me and I have no problems. 

CC:  I have independent living support. It was hard to start with but I got help to buy 
furniture.  I find it hard to pay bills. I am also studying at the moment. 

All young people have problems setting up their own home.  Did your foster 
carers help with teaching you life skills?
CC: I was in supported lodgings before and they helped me prepare for independent 
living by teaching me the skills I would need before I left.

JF: I am in supported lodgings.  As I am over 18 I can claim housing benefit and I pay 
rent to my carers.  To help pay for my food I have taken a weekend job, as working 
during the week would take time away from my studies. I have to pay for my own 
food and travel costs, and I am quite lucky that I still have someone to support me.  
When I move on to university or an apprenticeship, I will move to independent living, 
and I expect I will learn the skills I need for that then.  It is a challenge to keep debts 
under control. 

What do you have to pay – Council Tax? TV licence?  Do you get any help with 
these?
JF: I don’t earn enough to pay Council Tax.  Housing benefit covers my rent, and I 
pay for food.  When I leave education I know I will have to manage on my own. 

J: I am in supported lodgings and am lucky that my support is good.  I moved away 
from my mother at 12 and have stayed in some places which have not been good. 
Once I turned 16 there was much help available to me, and people have taught me 
so much.  I hope to go on to get some more education.

Before you turned 18, were you told much about what would happen after 18?
JF: I did not have much help before 18, and the help I had was limited to how to claim 
the benefits I am entitled to. It took months to get me an 18-plus worker.  My carer 
got some information from Catch 22, but it was like being thrown in at the deep end 
on my 18th birthday, with forms to fill in, etc.

Page 7



 
Was there any handover of social worker at 18-plus?
 J:  I have both my old and new social workers at the moment. There was some 
handover when I moved from Children’s to Adults’ Services.
So did you have to build a new relationship and new trust?
J: Yes.

Would you agree that some young people are mature enough to handle the 
transition at 18 well, while some are not?
JF: My carers were good and helped with the transition, and with finding out about 
benefits, etc.  They were very understanding and were patient about waiting until I 
had money to pay them rent.  In that way, they were more than landlords to me.  
However, there is always some period of uncertainty as you move from one phase to 
another.    

As a parent, I tried to teach my children skills like cooking before they moved 
out, and as a parent I am still there for them to come back to if they need help.  
I know that the situation is different for young people leaving care, if they have 
no family to fall back on, but it is good if you have a good relationship with 
your carers which could continue once you have left. 

Do Catch 22 help young people to find accommodation?
CC: Yes, I think so. 

Do foster carers have some role in this?
JF: I don’t think they do.  The 18-plus team looked after this for me, and helped and 
supported me, and Catch 22 set up my tenancy. 

How did you find out about these arrangements, and who you needed to speak 
to?  Did your social worker advise you?
J:  They didn’t tell me in advance; I felt that I was thrown into it.  Once you leave your 
carer’s home you don’t know where you are going next. 

Would it help if someone a bit older were to act as a mentor to you, to share 
their experiences of going through the same process?  And would you in turn 
be willing to act as a mentor for someone else? 
J, CC and JF: Yes, a mentor would help, and we would all be willing to do that for 
other people.
 
VSK apprentices: We would be happy to help if someone asked us.  We have both 
had to learn how to budget for bills and food, and we could pass on this knowledge.  
We could establish a ‘buddy’ system. 

CC: The VSK apprentices have attended our local Young Adults Council (YAC) to 
teach young people how to budget and shop carefully.
We could have more of that sort of session; we will look into setting this up.

Thank you all so much for giving your time to attend and talk to the Panel 
today.  What you have told us is very useful.  It would be good to catch up 
again in the future to see how you are getting on.  

   

Page 8



The meeting then returned to open session for the regular business of the 
Panel 

136. Apologies and Substitutes 

1. Apologies had been received from Mr R Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, Mr S 
Griffiths and Ms C Moody. 

2. Mr M J Angell was present as a substitute for Mrs J Whittle, Mr R Bird for Mr M 
J Vye, Mr T Maddison for Ms C J Cribbon and Mr M J Northey for Mr G Lymer.

137. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 28 January 2016 
(Item A2)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 28 January 2016 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters 
arising. 

138. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A3)

1. The Chairman announced that young people in Thanet had been nominated 
for a National Crimebeater Award.  The Vice-Chairman added that, with the 
encouragement of the local Youth Advisory Group, young people had made a DVD of 
issues they faced while in care in Thanet, which had received a good response from 
the High Sheriff of Kent. They had been shortlisted for a National Crimebeater Award, 
for which the winners would be announced on 16 March. 

139. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A4)

1. Ms Dunstan gave a verbal update on the following:

OCYPC Update – OCYPC Members had taken part in a Jigsaw activity, to discuss 
what would make a good social worker.  Mr Segurola added that the Young Lives 
Foundation had recently undertaken a similar exercise to identify ‘the top 10 points 
for a good social worker’, which could feed into social worker training, possibly at 
Canterbury Christ Church University, and into recruitment activity. 
Challenge Card issues:

a. A reply to the submission of designs for business cards for social workers was 
still awaited. Mr Segurola agreed that this delay had gone on too long and 
undertook to ensure that a reply was sent.  

b. A request that the County Council set up bank accounts for young people in 
care, into which the Council and a young person’s foster carers could pay 
money for them to access when they reached 18.

c. Young people in care should be able to see their younger siblings still living at 
home with parents.  Mr Segurola undertook to send a response to the young 
people who had raised this issue.

d. Varied experiences with social workers, and the fact that some social workers 
were more proactive than others. Mr Segurola asked how young people 
thought social worker training and practice could be improved.

Page 9



Young Adults Council (YAC) Developments – attendance at meetings had 
improved, and useful sessions such as budgeting and shopping had been run at 
recent meetings. YAC Members would shortly take part in the Who Cares Trust 
London Bridge trek of 25km to raise funds. 
Apprentice Staffing update – three new VSK apprentices had been recruited and 
would start work after Easter.  Two more vacancies remained and it was hoped that 
an unaccompanied asylum seeking young person could be recruited to one of the 
posts. 
Activity Days 2016 – County Council Members who had contributed funds from their 
Member grants were thanked for their support.  
Forthcoming dates were as follows:
 Tuesday 29 March – Trampolining in Maidstone
 Wednesday 30 March – East and South Kent Activity Day at Kingswood: 48 

spaces.
 Thursday 31 March – West and North Kent Activity Day at Bewl Water: 36 

spaces.
 Wednesday 6 April - West and North Kent Activity Day for children aged 5 – 9 at 

the Hop Farm: 20 spaces.
 Thursday 7 April - East and South Kent Activity Day for children aged 5 – 9: 20 

spaces
National Celebratory event, 17 February: ‘Taking it to the next level’ – This 
event, which had involved Children In Care Councils from other areas, had 
addressed engagement between Children In Care Councils and Corporate Parenting 
Panels.  Issues arising at this event would feed into the current work to amalgamate 
the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Kent Corporate Parenting Group.  
Regional Participation and Children in Care Council Group – for professionals - 
this had also shared best practice and addressed new ways of working. 

2. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks. 

140. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A5)

1. Mr Oakford gave a verbal update on the following issues:

Local Children’s Partnership Groups had been formed in districts, and Members 
were becoming involved in their local groups.
Grant submissions for Local Children’s Partnership Groups had been made, 
and most had been approved.
Duke of Edinburgh Award presentation evening and Sea Cadets Awards 
evening – these had both shown excellent examples of young people overcoming 
challenges.
Visits to Children’s Centres in Canterbury, Thanet and Maidstone, meeting staff 
and parents.  
Visit to YMCA – met staff team and heard about challenges faced. 
Visit to Sunrise Centre – this provided respite care for children with disabilities.
Attended Corporate Parenting Select Committee (with Philip Segurola) to present 
the action plan which would follow on from the Select Committee’s recommendations. 
Attended South East Regional Group meeting for Directors of Children’s 
Services and Local Members (with Philip Segurola) – this gave the opportunity to 
make a presentation on UASC to other local authorities and highlight and start a 

Page 10



conversation about the challenges Kent faced around placing them.  Brighton Council 
had taken ten UASC from Kent but support from other authorities had been lacking. 

Forthcoming meeting of Local Government Association Asylum and Refugee 
Task Force, 24 March – this would be a national meeting of a taskforce set up to 
tackle issues of asylum and migration.

2. The verbal updates were noted, with thanks. 

141. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report 
(Item B1)

1. In the absence of Mr Doran, Mrs Skinner introduced the report and highlighted 
key areas of progress in what had been a period of much activity and challenge:

 although KS4 scores would not be validated until later in March, the forecast 
was that both attainment and attendance would show an increase. 

 due to the recent changes made to the measuring of performance at KS1 and 
KS2, it would be difficult to compare like with like when looking back at past 
years’ performance.

 new VSK apprentices, including one graduate,  had been recruited to fill the 
posts vacated when  former apprentices moved on to permanent employment. 

2. Mrs Skinner responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:

a) it was still proving difficult to place unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
(UASC) in schools at year 11, and this difficulty was exacerbated by the 
fact that examinations were imminent at that stage, when they had limited 
time to learn English. Mrs Skinner assured the Panel that UASC would be 
given all possible support to overcome these difficulties; 

b) a view was expressed that the information reported was difficult to follow in 
part as area references did not seem to match those used by other 
services, and information did not cover some of the issues that the public 
most wanted to know about, eg the availability of school places.  Mr 
Segurola explained that some areas experienced more difficulty than 
others in accommodating the numbers of children in care, particularly those 
placed in Kent by other local authorities, currently approximately 1,300. In 
addition, the high number of UASC that Kent had to accommodate, 
currently approximately 900, added to the challenge of finding sufficient 
school places near their placements. He reminded Members that, under 
the Department of Education’s School Admissions Code, children looked 
after by a local authority took precedence for local school places. The 
Cabinet Member, Mr Oakford, added that, in some areas of Kent, there 
were more children in care placed by other local authorities than there 
were Kent’s own children; and

c) Members had learned from two recent Select Committees, Apprenticeships 
and the Student Journey, that students found it difficult to access good 
quality information, advice and guidance, and that the skills most valued by 
employers when recruiting young people were English, maths and ‘soft’ 
skills such as time keeping, self-discipline and interpersonal skills.  It was 
important that good quality information, advice and guidance be available 

Page 11



to children earlier in their school career, before year 11, so they could build 
confidence in these areas before entering the employment market.  Young 
people needed motivation as well as examination passes. Mr Segurola 
said he shared Members’ concern about the number of care leavers who 
were not in education, employment or training (NEET).  Ms Dunstan added 
that the Young Adults Council and Our Children and Young People’s 
Council could help young people and care leavers to build their confidence 
and to access information about careers and training.  

3. RESOLVED that the progress made by the Virtual School Kent be noted and 
welcomed. 

142. Update on the Fostering Improvement Plan 
(Item B2)

1. Ms Smith introduced the report and highlighted the main challenges currently 
facing the Fostering service.

 a new audit tool would become live in April 2016 and would apply to new 
foster carers, from six months after they had been approved.  

 a planned Fostering activity day had unfortunately had to be postponed and 
would now take place on 22 May. However, this would now engage and 
benefit children from a wider age range than had previously been planned. 

 feedback from a survey of foster carers was currently being considered by the 
Kent Foster Carers Association and would be reported to the Panel at a future 
meeting. 

2. Ms Smith responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) feedback from young people about their experiences of being in care would 
be used in foster carers’ annual review meetings, as well as feedback from 
the carers’ own foster children. The VSK apprentices could help to support 
this process, and the logistics of doing this would be investigated; and

b) a standard procedure was in place for dealing with complaints and 
allegations made about and against foster carers. When such an issue 
arose, the foster carer would be party to what was recorded about the 
incident on their file, including the outcome, ie if the complaint or allegation 
were substantiated or found to be groundless.  Panel members were 
reassured that nothing would be recorded on a carer’s file without their 
knowledge.

3. RESOLVED that the updated fostering improvement plan be noted and 
welcomed. 

143. Combining the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group, including a review of Terms of Reference 
(Item B3)

1. The Chairman advised the Panel that, as part of its report, the Select 
Committee on Corporate Parenting had made a recommendation that the Corporate 
Parenting Panel and the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) should merge.  
This seemed a good idea but gave rise to concerns that the combined group would 

Page 12



be too large to achieve good, constructive discussion and could be intimidating to 
young people attending its meetings. 

2. Mr Segurola added that Kent was unique in having two separate corporate 
parenting bodies.  The Select Committee had taken a view that the Panel was 
constrained by not having access to the operational knowledge that was present in 
the KCPG. He added that officers were comfortable with the recommendation, 
although he understood concerns expressed about the size of the combined group.  
He undertook to review the proposed membership set out in the report, with a view to 
trimming it. 

3. In debate, Panel members made the following comments:

a) the proposed merger was welcomed, with some reservations about the 
size of the combined group, and Mr Segurola’s offer to reduce the 
membership was welcomed;

b) it was vital that the new combined membership include colleagues from the 
Health Service;

c) a review of the operation of the new group could take place in three or six 
months’ time;

d) it was suggested that Mr Segurola meet informally with Group Spokesmen 
in the coming weeks to iron out the details of membership and Mr Segurola 
confirmed that he was happy to do this; and

e)  the Panel was in agreement that, as a County Council Committee, its 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman should be County Council Members. It was 
suggested that this be written into the Panel’s terms of reference. 

4. RESOLVED that:-

a) the proposal to combine the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Kent 
Corporate Parenting Group by April 2016 be agreed;

b) the proposed new merged Terms of Reference be endorsed, with an 
addition being made that the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel be 
Kent County Council Members; 

c) the range of partner representatives to be included in the  membership of 
the new Panel be agreed, with the proviso that their overall number be 
reduced; 

d) the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel be confirmed as at present; 
and 

e) the operation of the new combined Panel be reviewed in six months’ time. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Kent Corporate Parenting Group
Minutes of the meeting held on 29th February 2016

Garden Room, Oakwood House

Present: Apologies 
Philip Segurola – Director, Specialist Children’s 
Services

Martin Vye – Elected Member for Canterbury

Rebecca Ransley – Interim Children and Young 
People’s Service Manager – South Kent 

Nick Wilkinson – Assistant Head of Integrated 
Youth Services

Sue Clifton – Service Manager, Care Leaver 
Service

June Capuano – Clinical Manager for Children 
in Care Services

Joanne Rabbitte – Children & Young People’s 
Service Manager – West Kent

Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti – Designated Doctor, 
East Kent Hospitals Trust

Sarah Whittaker – Children & Young People’s 
Service Manager – North Kent

Simon Bounds – Participation and Progression 
Officer, Skills and Employability Service

Ann Furminger – Service Delivery Director, CXK Anne Nerva – Children and Young People’s 
Service Manager – Thanet

Gemma O’Grady – Participation Officer, Virtual 
School Kent

Tony Doran – Head Teacher, Virtual School 
Kent

Andy Heather – Principal Educational 
Psychologist
Maureen Robinson – Manager, Management 
Information Unit
Stephen Gray – CEO, Young Lives Foundation

Sarah Skinner – Service Manager, Virtual 
School Kent
Sue Mullin – Commissioning Support Manager, 
NHS Thanet Clinical Commissioning Group
Nancy Sayer – Designated Nurse for Looked 
After Children
Jenny Hall (Minutes)

Item 
No

General Overview of discussion, followed by decisions and actions in bold Actions

1. Welcome and Introductions

 Philip Segurola welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions 
were made.

2. Minutes and Matters Arising

 There continues to be concern around the disconnect between the area 
based CIC teams and the central UASC teams and the lack of 
communication between them, which is exacerbated because there is no 

Page 15

Agenda Item A3



representation at the County CIC meetings from the UASC teams.  PS 
confirmed that numbers of new arrivals have dropped and 77 young 
people have to date been transferred to the responsibility of Other Local 
Authorities.  Discussions are ongoing with the Home Office regarding the 
introduction of a national dispersal scheme.

 Nancy Sayer took the KCC list to CAMHS and was advised that there 
needs to be a better way of completing this information as this was a 
labour intensive method.  KCC need to know who is being seen by 
CAMHS in order to validate and track performance. A LAC indicator can 
be set up on Liberi to show when there is CAMHS involvement although it 
was noted that there would need to be additional codes added to reflect 
the various CAMHS services.  Sue Mullin to send definitions to 
Maureen Robinson so that appropriate codes can be set up.  Once 
this was completed, it was agreed that there would be a one-off exercise 
for all staff who have responsibility for LAC to ensure that the relevant 
indicators are activated on Liberi and a report will then be produced 
which can be shared with Health colleagues.  Guidance note about how 
to open and close CAMHS cases would be required.

 Tom Stevenson to confirm whether actions assigned to Paul Brightwell in 
the minutes of 24th September 2015 have been completed.

 The LAC Health Commissioning Group meetings are continuing and have 
the correct level of attendance.

 Maureen Robinson has amended the CIC Performance Scorecard and 
confirmed that it can now be shared with Health colleagues

 The response regarding the Challenge Cards has been completed.

 The minutes were agreed.

SM/MR

3. Update from Corporate Parenting Panel of 28th January 2016

 The final half-year report on adoption was provided by Coram which 
showed an overall drop in the number of placement orders.  Concern was 
raised by PS that CYPSMs are seeing more children being returned to 
family members on supervision orders that are breaking down quite 
quickly but this information is not being collated and fed back to the 
KFJB.  It was agreed to have an item on permanence at the forthcoming 
County Managers meeting on 11th March to discuss this further.

 The contract with Coram ended on 23rd January and following an 
unsuccessful tender process for a VAA, management oversight of the 
Adoption Service has been brought back in house although there is 
continued work with Coram on development and innovation.

 CPP also included items on the Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018 and on the Performance Scorecard

4. Merger of KCPG and CPP

 The Corporate Parenting Select Committee was established in February 
2015 to review KCC’s corporate parenting arrangements and a review 
was conducted of Members’ role as elected corporate parents.  The 

Page 16



resultant report made 15 recommendations, one of which was to broaden 
the constitution of the Corporate Parenting Panel so it becomes more 
holistic in its approach to children in care and merge CPP and KCPG.  A 
paper is going to CPP on 15th March with proposed revised Terms of 
Reference

 Membership was discussed.  With regards to Health representation, it 
was agreed that the Designated Nurse and Designated Doctor should 
represent the providers.  Sue Mullin, Nancy Sayer and Bethan Haskin 
to discuss other Health representation and refer back to PS before 
15th March.  Covering education it was agreed that Tony Doran, as VSK 
Head, should be a standing member as should Andy Heather, 
Educational Psychologist.  Nick Wilkinson would represent YOS and be 
the Early Help rep.  There was also a suggestion that Sue Dunn, Head of 
Skills & Employability, to cover the 18+ and NEETs agenda.  The current 
membership from YLF and CXS would continue.  This revised 
membership would commence from the May CPP meeting subject to 
agreement at the March meeting.

 It was noted that there would be linkages into CPP via the monthly CIC 
service manager meetings and other multi-agency meetings

 Members are looking to have more active engagement in events 
involving young people in care and it was important that invitations to 
local events go to all the relevant Members, not just those on CPP.  
Gemma O’Grady is looking at participation awareness as part of the 
package of support for both the current cohort of Members and those 
who will be newly elected in 2017.  The importance of raising awareness 
of care leaver responsibility was stressed

 There will continue to be two young people in the membership of CPP 
and they will be responsible for ensuring that information about items 
discussed at CPP is fed back to OCYPC and YAC and also for raising 
with the CPP membership any items or concerns raised by those 
Councils.  It was suggested that there should be a standing item on the 
CPP agenda for young people to give direct input and this should include 
UASC who are likely to require interpreters
 

SM/NS/BH

5. VSK Update

 Sarah Skinner covered this item for Tony Doran who was unavailable

 The results from the summer 2015 were very positive and moving in the 
right direction.  KS1 outcomes were all green and the gap was narrowed 
between CIC and those not in care.  KS2 again improved against 2013 
and 2014 figures.  KS4 data will not be validated until 24th March so data 
provided in the report was from KCC

 The impact of the major influx of UASC is not reflected in the reporting.  
The difficulty in arranging interpreters has resulted in problems accessing 
dental care, opticians and registration with a GP and will have a negative 
impact on reporting

Page 17



 There is an increasing problem in getting data around progress and 
attainment of individual CIC from schools, particularly as there is no 
standard and schools will be assessing it differently which will lead to 
discrepancies

 Staff from VSK continue to support the OCYPC, YAC and Junior Council.  
Membership and attendance in EK continues to be low and work is being 
undertaken by apprentices to encourage foster carers to promote 
attendance with their young people

 Work continues to find school places for UASC of statutory school age 
although schools are reluctant to take them into Y11.  Initiatives such as 
the ‘Ready for School’ programme have resulted in some finding places.  
There is a greater focus on those placed outside of Kent.  Rachel Calver 
and Simon Bounds are working on accessing support for post-Y11 but 
this continues to be a challenge, particularly in WK.  Extra funding has 
been obtained to put in ESOL training into the reception centres and 
KRAN in Folkestone continues to work closely with these young people

 A recent meeting was held with Jenny Whittle around CIC obtaining 
grammar school places and it was agreed that there needs to be a 
greater focus on wellbeing and emotional resilience at transition as this is 
often a bigger challenge than academic attainment.  Early engagement 
with schools is important and Pupil Premium Plus can be used for putting 
together a programme of support

6. YP Challenge Cards

 Sarah Skinner explained that the business cards for social workers are 
now with the Comms team and should be available for use by Easter.  
Initially they will be used in the CIC teams

 Consultations are ongoing around savings and pocket money for CIC. 
Foster carers are keen to be given direction and children want payments 
to be fair so it was agreed there should be consistency across all settings 
for savings and age-appropriate pocket money set by the Corporate 
Parent. 

 Finding a safe place for sibling contact has become a greater challenge.  
Tom Stevenson agreed to take this away

 The importance of CIC understanding and managing their expectations 
around the role of their social worker was discussed and Jo Rabbitte 
and Rebecca Ransley agreed to attend a future OCYPC to discuss 
this.  The role of the IRO was also discussed.  YLF have produced the 
‘Top 10’ qualities of a social care professional, according to young people 
that were consulted by YLF on behalf of another local authority:

Top Ten Poster 
New.pdf

 A similar exercise to be undertaken with Kent CIC

TS

JR/RR

SS

Page 18



7. Participation 
Gemma O’Grady explained that the following 7 workstreams had been agreed:

 MOMO app – this is being trialled in NK and went live in early February.  
To date 21 young people had signed up and were sending through 
information for their reviews and also some complaints using this app.  
The pilot is for 6 months with monthly reports being created and will then 
roll out across the county within a year.  This provides an additional 
conduit for young people to send through information and to have a 
voice.  Any concerns raised about health issues would be logged on liberi 
by the social worker and the appropriate referral would be made

 Involvement in recruitment and selection panels – guidance is being 
produced to formalise this process.  There is a growing cohort of young 
people available to carry out this role

 Accessibility and translation of material – there have been ongoing 
difficulties in getting information translated and getting agreement on who 
would pay for this.  Work is underway to make participation events more 
accessible and to maximise opportunities for all young people

 Member involvement – discussions have been held with Ann Allen about 
induction and ongoing training for Members and the use of a countywide 
calendar to highlight what events are taking place

 LILAC – it is important to build on the recommendations going forward

 Management information – work is ongoing to try to demonstrate where 
participation is making a difference

 Care leavers pathway plans – these are being revised and useful 
feedback has been received from YAC which is being incorporated into 
the first draft.  YAC will continue to be involved with the development, 
which will also be influenced by UASC and disabled young people 

8. CIC Performance Scorecard

 Q3 up to the end of December 2015 was circulated which had a new 
additional page showing performance including and excluding UASC

 The stability of social worker for CIC over an 18 month period had 
improved considerably, although this was less so in WK due to a high 
turnover of staff

 It was noted that the education information was quite out of date as the 
new data would not be published until the end of March

 The health & wellbeing performance figures were adversely affected by 
the major influx of UASC in September and October but they did improve 
by January although there continues to be a slight backlog which will 
affect the final figure

 The indicator for the percentage of CIC having 3 or more placements has 
been affected by the number of UASC, particularly as for many of them 
their first move is from a reception centre.  It should be noted that the 
majority of the moves are planned but there continues to be a challenge 

Page 19



around placement stability

 Just a small number of adoption cases had negatively affected the target 
for timescales

 All performance figures have improved for care leavers.  The DfE have 
stated that they will only require reporting on those young people we 
continue to be in contact with rather than the total cohort.  91.1% are in 
suitable accommodation and 54.8% in EET

 Staffing figures do not reflect the new establishment changes.  2 further 
social workers have recently joined from South Africa.  There were initial 
problems in finding them accommodation but this has been sorted. 
Vacancy figures nationally continue to rise

 It was agreed to continue with this scorecard and Maureen Robinson 
should be contacted if any amendments or additions are requested.  It 
was felt that the current format was clear and it was easy to see the 
direction of travel

9. AOB
 None raised

Page 20



From Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 26 May 2016

Subject: KENT COUNTY COUNCIL FOSTER CARERS ANNUAL 
SURVEY 2016, IN CONSULTATION WITH KENT FOSTER 
CARER ASSOCIATION. (KFCA)

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary/Background 
Information:

Recommendation:

An online survey was sent to all Kent County Council Foster 
Carers in January and February 2016 to understand foster 
carers’ views on the services we provide for them and the 
children and young people in their care. The survey questions 
were put together by Geoff Gurney, Interim Assistant Director for 
Corporate Parenting, in consultation with Glen Williamson, Chair 
of the KFCA.  The questions covered all aspects of the Fostering 
Service, including Supervision Visits, Annual Reviews, 
Appreciation Events, Child in Care CAMHS, external and multi-
agency support services and Social Worker Support to foster 
carers and children.  

Out of a potential 868 Foster Carer households, 202 fostering 
households completed the online survey. It is important to note, 
therefore, that the results represent the views of only 23% of 
our total registered KCC carers. 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the content of the report and the results of 
the survey.

1. Fostering Service

1.1 The fostering households were asked to rate their satisfaction as foster carers 
and overall 59% were either very or somewhat satisfied, with 41% being 
dissatisfied. 

1.2 Key messages

1.2.1 Where carers are satisfied, they are receiving good, consistent support from their 
fostering social worker and highly value the children’s social worker when they are 
making regular visits and including the carer in the decision making and direct 
work with the child.  Communication is essential to feeling that they are valued, 
listened to and a key part of the team around the child.  The Disabled Children’s 

Page 21

Agenda Item B1



Fostering Service was specifically mentioned as being outstanding in their support 
to carers and children. 

1.2.2 Carers’ dissatisfaction with the Fostering Service stems from poor communication, 
including not completing agreed tasks from supervision visits, not updating the 
carers about the child, and a feeling that more information could be shared with 
carers at the point of referral.  Comments include concerns about the multiple 
changes in the staffing group, a feeling that fostering social workers are working 
within a bureaucratic system, slow responses to requests for support and in 
expenses (mileage) being paid.  

1.2.3 Action

There will be an external review of the Fostering Service in June 2016 with a 
view to making improvements in consistency across the service.  Whilst 
some carers are satisfied with the Fostering Service, it is clear that there are 
improvements in the communication with our carers that need to be made in 
all areas.  This is being progressed by the new Interim Head of Service for 
Fostering and the Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting.

2. Supervision and Support

2.1 82% of carers agreed that they felt supported by their fostering social worker.  
78% felt strongly that they were supported by other foster carers and this was 
crucial.  This suggests that the introduction of using foster carers as mentors and 
linking them at the early stage of the assessment process has had a positive 
impact. 

2.2 Key Messages

2.2.1 Overall, fostering households felt they were well supervised and supported by the 
fostering workers, both social workers and social worker assistants.  Comments 
included that workers were “very supportive, professional, dedicated and hard-
working and going the extra mile”

2.2.2 96% of fostering households stated their Supervising Worker visits every four to 
six weeks.  There was some confusion with foster carers about whether they 
understood this to be formal supervision, with 70% stating they have formal 
supervision with their social worker every three months or 12 weeks.  Carers were 
confused as to whether home visits were supervision.  

2.2.3 Poor supervision visits were described as being very formal and unsupportive, 
especially when it takes place with the worker typing on a laptop; it is a review of 
child focused issues, not foster carer issues, or how carers cope, or don't cope.  
To some it felt like a "tick box" exercise.  Staffing changes have meant some 
carers have experienced a high number of different workers and during these 
periods there has been a delay in introduction of the new worker.  

Page 22



2.3 Action 

2.3.1 It is positive that so many foster carers felt well supported and this needs to 
be replicated and embedded across the Fostering Service.  All carers should 
have a supervision agreement so they understand what is expected of them 
and what they can expect from their Supervising Social Worker.  The use of 
a supervision template that all Fostering Social Workers will use for every 
visit is due to be implemented by the end of May 2016. 

3. Child in Care Reviews and Children’s Social Workers

3.1 94% of fostering households stated they are invited to the Child in Care Statutory 
Reviews, with 74% stating they are kept informed regarding the outcomes of the 
reviews.

3.2 Key Messages 

3.2.1 Foster carers value and feel supported when the child’s social workers visit 
regularly and get to know the child in their care.  There are some excellent 
examples of positive working relationships between the child’s social worker and 
foster carer and this leads to placement stability, as carers feel supported and 
listened to, especially when the child has complex needs.

3.2.2 There remain times when the child’s social workers are viewed as being hard to 
contact, too busy to respond and  lacking professionalism, and of children having 
numerous changes of worker, an example being given of a three year old having 
five locum workers in a two year period.  This was also a problem raised regarding 
the Asylum Team, with foster carers reporting that they have had young people 
placed with no social worker for significant periods, again with a number of 
changes and this has resulted in them not wanting to accept placements of 
unaccompanied asylum young people, as they believe that there is less support 
available. 

3.3 Action

3.3.1 There needs to be better communication between the Fostering social 
workers and Child in Care social workers to ensure that there is early 
resolution of issues when they occur.  These need to be recorded in staff 
supervision and monitored by the Service Managers to ensure carers and 
children are receiving good support to achieve placement stability.  
Although there were low numbers of comments about changes in social 
workers, this remains a problem in some areas of the service, particularly in 
the Asylum Teams, and there is a risk of carers not wanting to accept young 
people from within this service, due to their negative experiences. 

4. Foster Carer’s Annual Review

4.1 The survey asked about the contribution of carers towards their annual review, 
and being informed of outcomes. 

Page 23



4.2 Key Messages

4.2.1 Some feedback from carers indicated there could be an improvement in the 
process of undertaking Annual Reviews.  Foster carers would like more feedback 
on their performance of the fostering task, their successes and areas where they 
could further develop child care skills.  They would like to see the comments or the 
feedback forms completed by social workers and children.  The annual reviews 
could be used with increasing effectiveness to ensure that foster carers are able to 
consolidate their knowledge and skills.

4.3 Action

4.3.1 Annual Reviews are a statutory requirement and the feedback from carers 
has confirmed the implementation of a new review team was an appropriate 
service development.  The issues raised regarding annual reviews will be 
addressed with the new independent Fostering Reviewing Team and will 
ensure a focus on meaningful reviews that ensure the development of foster 
carers.  There will be increased quality assurance, with the incorporation of 
feedback from the children and young people who are fostered and also the 
sons and daughters of the fostering household.

5. Pocket Money and Savings

5.1 90% of foster carers agreed that children should receive pocket money and 
savings from the maintenance payments. 

5.2 Key Messages

5.2.1 For savings, 44% agreed with an amount set at a minimum of £5 per week for 
each child under 11 years old and £10 per week for a child over 11 years old, from 
their foster carers’ maintenance payments, and they would welcome guidelines or 
a policy regarding pocket money and savings. 

5.2.2 The majority of the carers disagreed about this being so prescriptive and wanted it 
agreed individually.  Comments included that it should be the foster family’s 
discretion regarding the amount of pocket money given and it should depend on 
the child’s age, needs and ability and keeping in line with the foster families’ rules 
in relation to the pocket money received by their birth children.

5.3 Action

5.3.1 The guidance for pocket money and savings has been written and is 
currently in the consultation period with foster carers, which ended in April 
2016.  This will become a formal policy.  Placement planning meetings and 
delegated authority agreements support the care planning for individual 
children placed within fostering households.  This provides clarity for foster 
carers, the children and young people, and is endorsed by supervising 
social workers and the area team social workers.

Page 24



6. Support Groups

6.1 96% of fostering households stated they attended area-based support groups, with 
82% being satisfied with how they are run.

6.2 Key Messages

6.2.1 Foster carers’ overall view of support groups was positive, finding them invaluable.  
Some foster carers state that support groups have lost the purpose they were 
meant to be for, that over the years the groups have changed and have become 
more information groups and that it is difficult to find support from foster carers to 
set up support events for young people, carers and families.  For example, there 
weren’t any activities over the Christmas period, as in previous years. 

6.3 Action

6.3.1 The Area Support Team Managers are currently working on a county format 
for support groups, taking into account the views from the Foster Carers 
Advisory Board. 

7. Appreciation Events

7.1 75% of the foster carers left this question blank, suggesting the communication 
and publicity about the different events was not clear across the county. 

7.2 Key Messages

7.2.2 Carers who did attend thought the events were an excellent idea and made them 
feel valued.  They welcomed the events being attended by Managers and Social 
Workers from all areas of the Service.  Others found it difficult to attend evenings 
and suggested it would be appreciated if carers were given a written thank you for 
particular work such as when children move on to independence, adoption or other 
carers, in recognition of their hard work. 

7.3 Action

7.3.1 All areas of the Service held individual appreciation events in 2015 and there 
needs to be improved coordination for these events.  The Council should 
work with KFCA to organise county events for 2016 that are open to all 
foster carers, to recognise and appreciate their work with children.  There 
needs to be a system in place for nominations, and, additional to this, letters 
to be sent out from the Head of Fostering, to recognise specific 
achievements by our Foster Carers. 

8. Additional, external and multi-agency support

8.1 KFCA 
92% of fostering households stated they knew about the KFCA.

Page 25



8.2 FosterTalk 
97% of fostering households stated they received the FosterTalk Magazine and 
93% stated they were aware of the benefits available via FosterTalk.

8.3 Fostering Handbook
94% of fostering households stated they are aware of the Fostering Handbook.

8.4 Foster Carer Newsletter
82% of fostering households stated they know where to find the Foster Carer’s 
Newsletter

8.5 Child in Care CAMHS for information and advice, and to discuss a possible 
referral
13% stated that this service is excellent; 18% good; 16% satisfactory; 8% poor; 
6% very poor and 39% did not respond.

8.6 Education Support Workers via VSK
32% stated that this service is excellent; 28% good; 10% satisfactory; 1% poor; 
1% very poor and 28% did not respond. 

8.7 LAC Nurses for Review Health Assessments (part of VSK)
38% stated that this service is excellent; 29% good; 8% satisfactory; 1% poor; 1% 
very poor and 23% did not respond.

8.8 Treasure Chest – access to toys and play materials
90% of carers were not aware of this facility and only 3% had used it.  This will be 
more actively promoted by the fostering service and supervising social workers.

8.9 Signs of Safety
22% of fostering households were familiar with the Signs of Safety approach and 
were able to give examples of what is working well in achieving good outcomes for 
children, what they are worried about within the service and what we can do 
differently. 

8.10 Key Messages

8.10.1 Online information is being well used and it is reassuring that the Fostering 
handbook, KFCA and FosterTalk are all being well used by our foster carers. It is 
clear from the numbers of non-responses regarding other services that there 
needs to be some promotion around this, especially the use of the Treasure Chest 
Resource 

9. Conclusion

9.1 The survey has identified key areas that the Fostering Service needs to focus on 
to make improvements so that all foster carers receive quality support and 
supervision. Communication with Foster Carers needs to be improved to enable 
them to feel valued and part of the team around the child. 

Page 26



 All carers need to have a supervision agreement and every visit should use the 
same supervision template (by end of May 2016).

 There will be an audit of the referral process and matching of children with carers 
to ensure information is being fully shared with foster carers at point of referral. 
(May 2016)

 Appreciation Events need to be organised centrally and promoted with all carers to 
ensure they are included. 

 Ongoing use should be made of Foster Carer Mentors at an early stage of the 
assessment process, as this is working well.

 Pocket Money and Savings Policy to be implemented by June 2016. 

 The Fostering Service and Child in Care Teams need to improve support and 
communication with the foster carers following a change of worker or new 
placement.  Good practice would be for the new Fostering Social Worker to 
contact foster carers within the first week of being in post.  This needs to be 
written into staff inductions and monitored by Team Managers. 

 During supervision visits, fostering social workers should ensure the foster carers 
are aware of resources, training and events and promote attendance. 

 The format of the Support Groups needs to be consistent across the county, to 
ensure the foster carers are supported. 

 Fostering Reviewing Team to be implemented (August 2016).

10. Recommendations

10.  Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the content of the report and the results of the survey.

11. Background Documents

None

12. Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith
Acting County Manager, Fostering
03000 415091
Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola 
Director Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk 

Page 27

mailto:Caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 26 May 2016

Subject: KENT COUNTY COUNCIL RESPONSE TO CHILD SEXUAL 
EXPLOITATION AND MISSING CHILDREN.

Classification:

Electoral Division:

Unrestricted 

All

Summary:

Recommendations:

Following Professor Jay’s report into the widespread sexual 
exploitation of children in Rotherham, Ofsted set out to build a clearer 
picture of the strength of safeguarding in this area of child protection 
by arranging a range of thematic inspections looking at Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) and the local response. 

This briefing paper provides information about Kent County Council’s 
(KCC), in partnership with colleagues in other agencies, response to 
CSE and Missing Children.

Since October 2014, significant work has been undertaken by 
Specialist Children’s Services (SCS), Education and Young People’s 
Services (EYP), Public Health, Children’s Commissioning and the 
Kent Safeguarding Children Board (KSCB) to raise awareness of 
CSE warning signs among partners, providers and front-line staff. 
This has been further supported by measures to evaluate the quality 
and responsiveness of interventions; ensuring vulnerable children and 
young people are appropriately safeguarded and that they receive the 
required help and support in a timely way.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT ON the content of this report.

1. Introduction

1.1 Between September and October 2014, Ofsted conducted eight thematic 
inspections of how Local Authorities were tackling Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE). Rotherham, Rochdale, Bristol, Luton, Oldham, Camden and Brent as 
well as Kent, were all inspected. Kent’s CSE thematic inspection took place 
between 13 and 17 October 2014.

1.2 Actions arising from the thematic inspection, both nationally and locally were 
incorporated into Kent Children’s Services Development Plan.

1.3 Actions undertaken to recognise risks and likelihood, respond to and protect
children from CSE have been incorporated into a CSE work-plan which details 

Page 29

Agenda Item B2

http://www.kscb.org.uk/__data/assets/excel_doc/0008/41687/ACTION-PLAN-2015-v6.xlsx
http://www.kscb.org.uk/__data/assets/excel_doc/0008/41687/ACTION-PLAN-2015-v6.xlsx


the necessary actions professional agencies within Kent must undertake in 
order to robustly tackle and prevent sexual exploitation.  It utilises analysis of all 
the national reports regarding CSE and Ofsted thematic inspection findings.

1.4 This work plan has been adapted and progress is managed by the Multi-Agency 
Sexual Exploitation Group (MASE).  CSE remains at the forefront of officers’ 
minds, with Quality Assurance mechanisms such as Deep Dives and 
defined audits looking closely at the theme of CSE.

1.5 Communication and raising awareness

1.5.1 Substantial efforts have been undertaken by the Council to work with 
staff, providers and colleagues in other agencies to assess training needs, 
levels of awareness and actions required to ensure the safeguarding response 
is as robust as possible.

1.5.2 Children’s Commissioning has been working with supported lodgings 
providers, who deliver accommodation and support to over 130 young people 
leaving care, to ensure staff within these services are aware of the Kent CSE 
risk-assessment toolkit and access relevant training. New accommodation 
providers need to evidence consideration of the risks of CSE when tendering for 
any service.

1.5.3 There was a formal launch of the newly-formed specialist multi-agency Child 
Sexual Exploitation Team (CSET) and ‘Operation Willow’ on 2 December 2015.  
The launch was widely reported on local television, radio and newspapers, 
helping to raise the profile of both the issue and how Kent, with its partners, 
continues to respond.  More details about Operation Willow can be found on the 
KSCB website.

1.5.4 The CSET is now in place and each agency has a CSE Champion within their 
agency to ensure that the CSE message is cascaded, raising awareness of 
what to do when CSE is suspected and to provide support to the CSET and 
MASE.  There are currently 83 CSE Champions. Quarterly Champions’ Forums 
have been arranged where experiences will be shared and further 
developments within CSE disseminated.  The KSCB has developed an online 
resource library and an enhanced training programme for CSE 
Champions.

1.6. Training

1.6.1 Following the CSE thematic inspection in October 2014, the Council committed 
to all front-line staff with responsibility for the safeguarding assessment of/ 
planning for children and young people undertaking CSE training.  This training 
includes utilisation of the KSCB CSE risk-assessment toolkit and raising  
awareness of the particular vulnerability indicators specific to sexual exploitation 
and sexual abuse.

1.6.2 A comprehensive range of training opportunities is open to front-line staff. By 
raising awareness of the issues by CSE Champions and other communication 
and presentations to SCS, Early Help and Young People’s Services (EH&PS) 
front-line staff and those in the multi-agency network, there has been an 

Page 30



increase in the numbers of front-line and other staff attending targeted training. 
The targeted training includes:

 multi-agency CSE training sessions run by the KSCB
 localised workshops run by Practice Development Officers
 KSCB e-learning “Safeguarding Children from Abuse by Sexual 

Exploitation” which is open to any member of staff within the safeguarding 
partnership, regardless of role.

1.6.3 A training workshop was also jointly hosted by KCC and Kent Police in April 
2015 for KCC foster carers. The workshop shared KSCB’s procedures for 
missing children; and highlighted vulnerability factors and risks associated with 
children going missing, including the real risk of CSE. It also worked on 
developing good practice standards and raising confidence levels in foster 
carers in managing children who go missing from placement.

1.6.4 The Safeguarding Unit has recently completed an audit of a number of 
children’s cases where CSE has been identified as a risk factor.  The outcome 
of this audit will enable the team to identify both good quality practice as well as  
areas that require practice improvement.

1.7 Strategic needs assessment- analysis of prevalence

1.7.1 Information-sharing and assessing the impact our prevention efforts have made 
has become clearer with the advent of the MASE, the co-located CSE team and 
the Missing Children Single Point (SPOC).

1.7.2 There are good systems that collate multi-agency concern about CSE, which is 
then compiled within a dataset in the co-located CSE team; police analysts 
collate both soft and hard data and work on creating profiles of the key hot 
spots in Kent. A number of work streams have been developed to seek to 
improve intelligence capture. There is still some distance to travel before 
there is a complete picture of the true prevalence of CSE vulnerabilities within 
the county, but the trajectory is going in the right direction. 

1.8. Information sharing

1.8.1 The Early Help Triage and Central Referral Unit (CRU) have been co-located 
since the end of June 2015. This ensures that contacts and referrals received 
are appropriately directed to the service which best meets the needs of 
individual children, but also means that, with the multi-agency presence within 
the CRU, information about emerging vulnerabilities around CSE can be 
flagged at an earlier stage. 

1.9. MASE Panel

1.9.1 The MASE has been in place since May 2015 with a clear focus on strategic 
leadership and management in identifying vulnerabilities and reducing the 
prevalence of CSE. The Panel has a clear action plan which is regularly 
reviewed in light of emerging intelligence or other challenges around CSE within 
the County.

Page 31

http://www.kscb.org.uk/procedures/missing-children
http://www.kscb.org.uk/procedures/missing-children


2. Missing children and Other Local Authority (OLA) children

2.1 As Kent has a high number of children placed by other local authorities within its 
boundaries, there are specific challenges related to this group of young people. 
Children who run away or go missing are particularly vulnerable to suffering 
harm - including an increased risk of sexual exploitation.  The Missing Children 
Single Point of Contact (SPOC) is fully integrated in the Central Referral Unit. 
The SPOC, in partnership with Kent Police, collates notifications regarding any 
child that goes missing in Kent on to a single database. These notifications 
relate to children known to a KCC service and those children placed in Kent by 
other local authorities, as well as that wider population of young people who 
have had no contact with our services.  As a result, children who are vulnerable 
as a result of running away are given support and help at the earliest 
opportunity. Work is underway in partnership with Kent Police to build an ability 
to cross-reference those children who go missing with those who are known to 
be at risk of sexual exploitation.

2.2 An OLA placement officer has been appointed who sits within the Safeguarding 
Unit. The OLA placement officer ensures placing authorities have sufficient 
information on the statutory, specialist and universal services available. They 
will also work with placing authorities to ensure there is strong intelligence on 
OLA children who go missing in Kent, and work with the SPOC to escalate any 
non-compliance by OLAs in respect of requested information, including Return 
Interview forms.

2.3 The Safeguarding Unit completes a weekly audit of missing children to ensure 
an appropriate response from operational staff. 

3. Recent Progress

3.1 A conference specifically on the issues of sexual exploitation was held in 
October 2015, jointly with Kent Police, highlighting the range of exploitation 
issues including online (e-safety) risks, gangs, trafficking and organised crime, 
as well as the sexual exploitation and abuse of children and young people by 
peer networks.

3.2 Multi-agency CSE team

3.2.1 The multi-agency CSE team led by Kent Police is a strategic and operational 
team of experts, which will support investigations anywhere in Kent.

3.2.2 The team includes representatives from the Police, Data Analysts and staff from 
SCS and EHPS in Kent and social work staff from Medway, as well as from 
Health. The team is co-located at Kent Police Headquarters to aid integration 
and effective partnership working.

3.2.3 SCS have provided two Practice Development Officers (PDO) to the CSE team 
to assist in sharing expertise and knowledge and to develop practice. There are 
good examples of how the PDOs are collecting soft and hard data and sharing 
this with the team to protect vulnerable children. 

Page 32



3.3 Universal CSE Case training for foster carers

3.3.1 As part of the Council’s efforts to establish a preventative and self-protection 
programme on CSE for children in care (national recommendation), led by 
fostering, plans are in place for all foster carers approved for ages 10 and 
upwards, and all fostering service social workers, to complete a CSE 
preventative training programme. Training includes the direct views of young 
people who have experienced CSE. Outcomes are that foster carers are able to 
discuss proactively with their children the risks of exploitation and what it 
means, in terms relevant and appropriate to the age and lives and lifestyles of 
individual children in care. The PDO, with the lead for CSE, has also delivered 
‘Missing from Care’ workshops to Kent foster carers to enable them to 
intervene more effectively with children who go missing. Completed foster carer 
training will be included in the carer’s training profile and assessed as part of 
their annual review.

3.4 Commissioning and procurement

3.4.1 In order to set contractual quality standards and to monitor commissioned 
providers regarding their organisation’s response to CSE, the Council’s legal 
team drafted additional clauses relating to CSE for inclusion in contract terms 
and conditions.

3.4.2 The additional clauses focus upon:-

a) Stipulating that each provider has clear policies and procedures for 
dealing with CSE;

b) Placing a requirement on commissioned providers that all staff working 
with children and young people have received CSE training, and that 
this is regularly updated; and

c) Linking the provider to the resources, information and training available 
via the KSCB.

3.5 Information and guidance for parents and carers

3.5.1 A wealth of e-safety information is publically available to professionals, parents 
and carers alike. KCC is one of only a handful of local authorities with a 
dedicated e-safety officer, able to work in schools and education settings to 
share resources to help children be safe online. This is particularly relevant, 
given that child sexual exploitation may be as result of online grooming or 
‘sexting’. 

3.5.2 Information leaflets for parents, carers and young people are available via the 
KSCB website.

3.6 CSE Case Audits

3.6.1 As part of the Child Sexual Exploitation Strategic Action Plan 2015 – 2016, 
follow-up audits and a review of children and young people identified as being 
at risk, or potential risk,of sexual exploitation were undertaken, using data 
gathered between December 2015 and February 2016. 70 children and young 
people were randomly selected and audited by a PDO in Kent SCS 
Safeguarding Unit.  The results are currently being analysed but earlier 
indicators suggest that there are noted improvements compared to the recent 

Page 33

http://www.kelsi.org.uk/support-for-children-and-young-people/child-protection-and-safeguarding/e-safety


CSE audit undertaken in summer 2015, led by an external consultant, following 
the earlier Ofsted thematic inspection.

3.6.2 Going forward, the learning points will inform the work plan of the PDOs with the 
lead for CSE based at the multi-agency CSET.

3.6.3 At the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) Preparation meeting held on 21 
April 2016, the multi-agency representatives agreed to undertake a “mock” audit 
of up to 15 cases, using the current CSE theme for JTAIs. This would involve all 
agencies undertaking an audit of casework identified as having a CSE 
component by Specialist Children’s Services. Each agency will identify an audit 
lead and the group will come together to map out the process, including the 
parameters of the audit which is likely to mirror that used by Ofsted et al in a 
JTAI Inspection. The audit will take place at the beginning of June 2016 and will 
follow the timeframes found in an Inspection scenario, with an overview report 
on completion.

4. Policy and Procedure

4.1 Children’s Services Child Protection Procedures have been and continue to be 
reviewed and, where necessary, changed to address the specific challenges 
posed by CSE, such as that posed by highly-organised and criminal abuse 
networks. The Kent Inter-Agency Threshold Criteria for Children and Young 
People has been refreshed to take into account the challenge of CSE, as well 
as the impact of gangs which have their own CSE issues, and the Prevent 
agenda.

4.2 A multi-agency task and finish group has recently been established to refresh 
the Missing procedures.

4.3 PDOs have also worked closely with a number of CSE Champions to explore 
the care planning process for children identified as being at risk of CSE. The 
aim is to ensure that the Council’s response is effective and robust.

5. Conclusion

5.1 The Council has actively engaged with the CSE agenda and has sought to 
ensure that awareness of the issues is raised through training, workshops and 
bulletins with staff. There are currently 83 CSE Champions embedded 
throughout the Council and an ongoing training programme via the KSCB to 
develop this further.

5.2 The CSE Team is fully operational and staff from SCS and EHPS are co-
located with staff from other relevant agencies to provide a comprehensive 
response to CSE vulnerabilities within Kent. The CSET is in place and the 
collation of soft and hard data allows much stronger profiling of the concerns 
across the County in relation to CSE, leading to a targeting of resources where 
they are needed and the identification of particular areas of vulnerability or risk.

5.3 There is a concerted effort to provide CSE training across all agencies within 
the Safeguarding network in Kent.

Page 34



5.4 The MASE Panel is now the strategic arm to the CSE agenda and is co-chaired 
by Police and SCS.

5.5 Operation Willow has been launched as a partnership between Kent Police, 
Kent County Council, Medway Council and the NHS to respond to concerns and 
promote awareness of CSE across the spectrum of schools, GPs, taxi firms, 
hotels and pubs etc.

5.6 There are excellent examples of good information sharing but CSE is an 
extremely complex and hidden activity and it will be this information sharing 
between agencies and teams that will have the greatest impact in preventing 
abuse and exploitation.  Where information sharing shortfalls have been 
identified, plans are in place to address these issues.

5.7 The roll out and embedding of systemic approaches such as Signs of Safety is 
assisting social workers and first-line case managers to address the 
complexities associated with identifying, working and engaging with families and 
victims of/ children at risk of sexual exploitation.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE  and COMMENT ON the content of this report.

7. Background Documents

None

8. Contact Details

Lead Officer
Nicki Shaw
Practice Development Officer/CSE Lead 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit
0754 0672281
Nicki.shaw@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 26 May 2016

Subject: INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICER SERVICE ANNUAL  
REPORT 2015/16

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report for 
2015/16 is attached as Appendix 1.  This report provides an account 
of the performance of the Council’s IRO Service for Children in Care 
from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE and 
COMMENT ON the IRO Annual Report and its findings.

1. Introduction

1.1 Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance (IRO 
Handbook) requires that the service manager of each local authority’s 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service produce an annual report for the 
scrutiny of elected Members and the responsible local authority’s corporate 
parenting board.

1.2 This reports sets out the work of the IROs, supported by findings from the quality 
assurance (QA) audit programme and monthly QA reporting.

1.3 The report includes both quantitative information about performance and the 
quality of practice as well as examples of the views of children/young people 
about the IRO service and Social Work practice.

2. Recommendations
2.1 Recommendations: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT ON the IRO Annual Report and its findings

3. Background documents:

None

Page 37

Agenda Item B3



4. Contact details

Lead Officer
Tom Stevenson
Interim Service Manager, Safeguarding and QA Unit
03000 421775
tom.stevenson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 38

mailto:tom.stevenson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Appendix  1

Independent Reviewing Service
ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016

April 2016| Patricia Denney| Assistant Director| Safeguarding & Quality Assurance

Page 39



Introduction

1. An annual report of the Independent Reviewing Service for looked after children is required in 
accordance with the Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 and this report provides a summary 
of work completed by the IRO service in Kent for the period between 1st April 2015 and 31st 
March 2016. 

2. Since April 2011, the IRO role has been strengthened and its role and function clarified and set 
down in the IRO Handbook. Essentially the responsibility of the IRO changed from the 
management of the LAC review process to a wider overview of the child’s case, including 
monitoring of the care plan in between reviews. This a key role within the Council in relation to 
the improvement of care planning for Children in Care and for challenging drift and delay in the 
implementation of care plans and permanency planning for our children and young people.

3. In June 2013 Ofsted published a report; “Independent Reviewing Officers: taking up the 
challenge?” Inspectors found that senior leaders valued the quality assurance role of the IRO, 
with most saying that they would welcome more consistent, and stronger, challenge from IROs. 
There is a continued need to ensure that IROs are sufficiently supported and challenged by 
leaders in driving effective improvement in services for children in care.

4. In November 2014 findings from a research study by The Centre for Research on the Child and 
Family (CRCF) at the University of East Anglia were published. The project focused on care 
planning and the role of the IRO and found the IRO role had ‘bedded down’, has a higher profile 
and greater acceptance within Local Authorities. The research found that IROs have become 
more active and interventionist and social workers and team mangers usually valued the input of 
the IROs even when they found it challenging. Social workers welcomed advice and monitoring 
and most IROs enjoyed this collaborative working to improve practice. The IRO service needs to 
develop a stronger collective voice within their organisation which in turn needs to harness the 
learning and share the messages from individual cases.

Executive Summary

5. The last year has been a challenging one for the whole of Children’s Services, with the large 
numbers of young people presenting as Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) having 
a particular impact in the summer months of 2015 and continuing to be a dominant issue for the 
remainder of the financial year to date.  For the Independent Reviewing Service there has been a 
need to operate a “business as usual” service for our existing young people whilst responding to 
the particular needs of these vulnerable new arrivals. This has required the Independent 
Reviewing Service to assimilate as many UASC young people into the caseloads of existing staff 
as possible and recruit an additional seven locum IROs simply to deal with the basic needs of the 
1000+ UASC young people who were accommodated in the last year. 

Page 40



6. The service to citizen children in care has been maintained throughout this period with no 
noticeable deterioration in standards. However the ability of the IRO Service to carry out the 
“added value” activities of increased contact with young people between Reviews, to 
consistently set caseloads at 70 per FTE and to identify specialist work streams for individual 
IROs to develop has been set back, particularly in the North and West as those areas assumed 
the “Duty” function in responding to UASC.

7. There is a gender disparity with only just fewer than 30% of the CIC population made up of 
girls/young women and around 70% made up of boys/young men, and again much of this is 
related to the UASC component where the vast majority are male. The ethnic component of the 
CIC population remains largely White at 1345 with 463 young people classified as Black and a 
further sizeable group of 466 young people classified as “other”. This latter group will require 
further investigation to gain a better understanding of these young people’s backgrounds and 
resulting needs, but again they are likely to fall within the UASC cohort.

8. The IRO Service has sought to work with partners in Health and Education as well as with the 
UASC Social Work Teams, to provide a comprehensive initial review for UASC young people, but 
capacity issues across this spectrum of service delivery have meant that this has not been 
universally successful although there has been an improvement since the beginning of 2016. 
Most young people feel happy but a significant proportion of young people who responded to 
consultations did not self-identify in this way and this will need further examination. Although 
most young people are happy and feel safe in their placements, less children and young people 
report the same about their schools. 

9. Whilst the participation of children and young people in their Reviews is good at 96.8%, there is 
a real need to improve performance in relation to young people actively chairing/part chairing 
their reviews which stands at a very low baseline. The feedback from both foster carers and 
parents is also very poor and will require a significant effort to reenergise this 
consultation/participation process.

10. There is clear evidence of IRO challenge to poor care planning and standards through the use of 
Dispute Resolutions.  This is an area where reflection on the value of challenge as a positive 
indicator of an active corporate scrutiny function could benefit the organisation. 

11. Social work services to young people in care are generally good, but they are still not achieving 
the higher performance profile within quality assurance processes that would suggest that the 
Council is delivering optimum results for all the young people in its care. The IRO Service has its 
own part to play in this landscape as it also has to be aspirational for the service children and 
young people receive.

Page 41



The Role and Responsibility of IROs

12. All local authorities have a statutory duty to regularly review the care plan of children in their 
care within the legislative timescales as set out in the Care Planning and Case Review 
Regulations (2010). The appointment of an IRO for every looked after child is a legal requirement 
under section 118 of the Adoption and Children Act (2002) and the subsequent Review of 
Children’s Cases Regulations (2004). The role of the IRO was strengthened in the Children and 
Young Person’s Act (2008) and Care Planning, Placement Regulations and Case Review (2010).

13. Kent as the Corporate Parent and its partners in delivering services, make a positive difference 
for children and young people in its care by investing in them, holding those responsible for 
looking after young people on many different levels accountable for the care and support 
provided, and ensuring that service planning takes account of their identified needs. As with any 
concerned parent, Kent wants the children and young people in our care to achieve the best 
outcomes they can, to be happy and safe with the people they live with and who care for them, 
and to have a positive sense of themselves as young citizens in communities that value them. 

14. Part of the Council’s commitment to overseeing good outcomes for children and young people in 
itscare is the continued investment in a strong Independent Reviewing Service.  By doing so the 
Council continues to make sure that there is proper scrutiny of care plans so they reflect each 
child and young person’s needs, that the actions required to achieve the plan are identified and 
implemented effectively in a timely way, and that the young person’s support network provides 
a cohesive response to their needs.

15. The IRO function and how it undertakes tasks is set out in the Department for Education’s IRO 
Handbook, which forms part of the regulations and statutory guidance; Volume 2 of the 
“Children Act 1989 – Care Planning, Placement and Case Review”.

16. The statutory duties of the IRO as set out in Section 25B [1] of the Children Act 1989 are: 
 Monitor the performance by the local authority of their functions in relation to the child’s 

case
 Participate (usually as chair) in any reviews of the child’s case
 Ensure that any ascertained wishes and feelings of the child concerning the case are given 

due consideration by the appropriate authority.  IROs are expected to arrange to have 
contact with children in care before the day of their review meetings

17. In addition IROs have the power to:
 Adjourn reviews under Regulation 36(2) if they are satisfied that the local authority has not 

complied adequately with all the requirements relating to the review (such as consulting the 
child/young person, parents etc.)

 Freeze decisions until a child in care’s review has been held that involve any unplanned 
change to the child’s accommodation that would impact on their education (especially at 

Page 42



key stage 4), changes of placement where the child has been settled and established for 
some time, and changing their legal status before the age of 18 years.

 Raise concerns through the local authority’s formal dispute resolution process, which should 
have a timescale of no more than 20 days.

 Refer cases to the Children and Families Court Advisory Service (CAFCASS) under Regulation 
45, which may include the use of a concurrent referral at the same time that they instigate a 
formal dispute resolution.

18. The IRO role is an independent one by its very nature and the IRO service has a key role to play 
in ensuring that care planning is robust, does not result in drift; and through the Review process 
identifies pathways for rehabilitation to family care or other support that enables a young 
person to cease to become looked after wherever possible. The IRO is expected to provide 
robust challenge where children’s outcomes are being hampered across the spectrum of service 
delivery by the Council and its partner agencies.

Kent County Council’s IRO service

19. The IRO service is part of Specialist Children’s Services and sits within the Safeguarding and 
Quality Assurance Unit. The day to day running of the Service is undertaken by two Team 
Managers under the management of the Service Manager -Safeguarding Quality Assurance, who 
in turn answers to the Assistant Director for Safeguarding and Quality Assurance.

20. There are 2 IRO teams which are coterminous with two operational areas apiece:

 The East and South Kent Area team are managed by Tina Onuchukwu and have an IRO 
establishment of 15.

 The North and West Kent Area team are managed by Pritpal Sodhi and have 13 IROs plus 6 
additional locum UASC focused IROs.

 A further IRO post is shared between SE/NW team

21. Within Kent, the IRO function is separate from the Independent Child Protection Chairs Service, 
although there is the possibility of a CP Chair undertaking the IRO role in certain circumstances. 

22. For the 2015/16 the settled establishment was planned to be 29 full time or equivalent IROs 
with an average caseload of 70. During the year the capacity of the IRO service has been 
challenged by the arrival of just over 1000 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) 
most of whom claim to be 16-18. This has led to a need to increase staffing to meet the demand 
for Reviews and the oversight of care planning. Initially the Service attempted to manage 
demand by incorporating new arrivals into existing IRO caseloads but the volume was such that 
an additional seven IROs have had to be recruited. Overall the Service has adapted well to the 
challenges posed by such a rapid increase over a short timeframe but due to the difficulty in 
recruiting locums there has been an inevitable increase in caseload. This has impacted on IRO 

Page 43



ability to undertake inter-Review visiting and some of the added value work that had been part 
of the business plan for this financial year following the regrading of IROs.

23. IROs were regraded to KR12 Team Manager level as a way of recognising their role and authority 
within the Council’s Corporate Parenting function. Recruitment of permanent staff has however 
proved difficult, especially in the North West because of the general shortage of IROs nationally 
and the particular pull from outer London. The South East is more stable with an almost 
completely permanent establishment.   The IRO Service is reviewing its recruitment strategy and 
how it uses new media to access potential candidates.

Ongoing Development of IROs

24. All IROs receive regular supervision from the IRO team manager through individual and group 
supervision, the latter providing a peer mentoring element to the process where IROs can 
discuss and identify good practice or highlight areas of difficulty. There is a monthly meeting 
schedule split into bi-monthly Team meetings alternating with bi-monthly IRO Group 
supervision, and there are quarterly countywide Practice meetings. These are well attended and 
provide a forum for practice development and maintain a county-wide cohesion in the IRO 
group. County staff meetings are held every 6 months and currently an annual “away day” 
enables the service to reflect on progress and to look at key areas of development for further 
practice improvements and service delivery. The most recent away day took place in October 
2015 and focused on:

 Strengthening the IROs’ challenge and support to Social Workers and their managers
 Improving practice and promoting better outcomes for children and young people 

Inter team working 
 IRO input to Permanency planning  

25. Throughout the year IROs have accessed individual and more specialised training through the 
KSCB training programme. All permanent IROs have been trained in Signs of Safety and the Team 
Managers are designated Practice Leads in Signs of Safety; there has also been training on 
Mental Capacity, Foster to Adopt, Pathway Planning, Children’s Participation and Child Sexual 
Exploitation.

26. As part of service self-evaluation the IRO Team Managers undertake one case file audit of each 
IRO and observation of a review every eight weeks. The findings from these case file audits and 
observations are used to provide feedback during supervision. This approach reflects good 
practice highlighted by Ofsted in their June 2013 report evaluating IRO services in England.

Page 44



Service demographics

Children in care as at 31 March 2016

Figure 1 Children in care by area including integrated UASC

1870

2427

2014/15 2015/16
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Figure 2 Total CIC Year on Year 2014-2016

27. The number of children and young people in care at year end was 2427.  1447 are Citizen 
Children and 883 are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). The majority of UASC are 
held within the SUASC Central Teams at 574 young people. The reduction in this group is 
accounted for by the number of young people who officially turned 18 in January 2016 and the 
current voluntary dispersal scheme in operation, which has young people move to the care of 
other authorities. This has enabled the IRO Service to begin to look at reducing the number of 
locum IROs employed and begin to plan for a reduction in coming months as other young people 
potentially move away from Kent under the proposed national dispersal scheme.

Page 45



Children in Care by Gender/Ethnicity /Age

28. The largest age group of LAC in 2015/16 were those at 16 and 17 at 1,071 which is almost 
entirely made up of those young people who presented as UASC in 2015. There is a clear 
increase in accommodations when young people reach Year 6 Secondary Transfer (age 11) but 
this is largely related to those children who transfer into specialist residential/educational 
provision related to disability, and who then become classed as Looked After Children under 
Section 20 (4) Children Act 1989. Figures demonstrate the increased accommodation of children 
post birth and in their first year of infancy, and where there is a clear need by IROs to actively 
consider the ongoing use of Section 20 and the permanence needs of this cohort of very young 
children within this crucial window. 

Legal Status at the point of becoming looked after by District - YTD

Page 46



Section 20 Cases

29. The impact of the changed legal view with regard to the appropriate use of Section 20 of the 
Children Act 1989, which despite recent changes is still the most common pathway into care as 
the chart above shows, led to a review of all relevant non-UASC Section 20 cases. This in turn 
requires a renewed focus from IROs to be mindful of the need to look at the ongoing suitability 
of accommodation under Section 20 for non-UASC children in care. 

Staying Put

30. The introduction of the “Staying Put” policy offers support to young people leaving care and an 
opportunity to remain living in their foster placement for a period of time after their 18th 
birthday. The IRO Service has a role in exploring this option with young people and their foster 
carers prior to transition to the 18+ Service so that all the parameters that may affect ongoing 
stability are assessed in a timely way and both parties are clear about the support available and 
the expectations of the placement and the young person. Staying Put as an option is still under-
developed within Kent with only 49 Staying Put arrangements in place in the year to date, 
although this is an improvement on the 2014/15 figure of 14 Staying Put arrangements.

IRO Caseloads

31. The average IRO caseload at the year-end was 65.67, although there will be IROs with more 
young people in their caseload. This figure includes the spread of cases across the whole IRO 
Service including those who hold UASC caseloads but represents a decrease caused by children 
exiting the service at 18 but particularly the large number of UASC who transferred to the 18+ 
Service in January 2016. With the advent of a national dispersal/resettlement programme for 
UASC it is likely that the need for Locum IROs will reduce steadily in the coming weeks and 
months. Inter-review visiting by IROs is most visible In the South and East with 
45.7%/32.6%/26.1 % (East) 27.8%/28.7%26.5% (South) across Quarters 2 3 and 4. The North 
West has been more challenged by taking on the majority of UASC cases at their initial stages 
and then holding them into the longer term prior to the recruitment of UASC focused locums 
with a lower ability to undertake additional aspects of their role. 

32. The total number of reviews chaired in the year to April was 6241, including Initial and additional 
reviews following a placement change.

Page 47



IRO practice and performance, including findings from feedback surveys

CIC cases reviewed within timescales showing impact of UASC

Participation and Consultation

 Participation of child/young person at Statutory Review= 95% (5379)

 Children and young people chairing their own review meetings: 

 Full 97 (2.8%)                                                                  Part 362 (10.4%)

33. In 207 out of 3,994 review processes children and young people did not communicate their 
views at the review, or have their views communicated for them. More than half of all young 
people over 10 either attended their review, spoke for themselves or an advocate attended with 
them or acted on their behalf. The IRO Service and children’s social work teams are trialling new 

Page 48



media platforms such as the MOMO (Mind Of My Own) app to achieve greater engagement and 
participation by young people in their Review preparation.  An increasing number of children 
chaired or part-chaired their own review meeting but this is still an area of weakness and one 
that the IRO Service will need  to develop  to empower young people. The response rate from 
foster carers and from parents, is very poor; formal participation/consultation activity in this 
year requires improvement. Again this is an area that the IRO Service will need to examine and 
respond to and evidence clear meaningful communication going forward.  

 THE % OF REVIEWS CHAIRED BY THE IRO SERVICE= 94.5% (5896 A NET INCREASE OF 410 ON THE 

2014/15 FIGURE OF 5486)
 LEAVING CARE SURVEYS – 30 REPLIES RECEIVED 

 REVIEW CONSULTATION BOOKLETS 805 REPLIES RECEIVED -14 % OF REVIEWS CHAIRED

 FEEDBACK FROM FOSTER CARERS: 3 REPLIES RECEIVED

 NO FORMAL FEEDBACK WAS RECEIVED FROM PARENTS

DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS

Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Total %

C&F / CORE / NEEDS ASS  DR 35 19 15   69 9.5%

CARE PLAN/PWP DR 81 39 23 1  144 19.8%

PERMANENCE DR 7 1 0   8 1.1%

STABLE PLACEMENT DR 17 5 5  1 28 3.8%

SAFETY DR 9 1 6   16 2.2%

HEALTH DR 31 5 11 1 1 49 6.7%

EDUCATION DR 26 6 6   38 5.2%

PROMOTION OF INTERESTS DR 3 0 0   3 0.4%

PARTICIPATION IN CARE PLANNING DR 0 0 0   0 0.0%

CONTACT DR 2 4 1   7 1.0%

VISITS DR 10 4 0   14 1.9%

DIRECT WORK DR 1 0 0   1 0.1%

LIFE STORY WORK 3 1    4 0.5%

LATER LIFE LETTER 0 1 0   1 0.1%

Page 49



CONTINGENCY DR 4 1 1   6 0.8%

PRE-MEETING REPORT  DR NOT THERE 152 59 19   230 31.6%

PRE-MEETING REPORT  DR QUALITY 3 1 0   4 0.5%

PLEDGE  DR 1 0 0   1 0.1%

OTHER ISSUES DR 71 26 9   106 14.5%

 INTERNAL RESOLUTION 456 173 96 2 2 729 100.0%

DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESSES 2015/16

34. There were 729 Dispute Resolutions (DR) in 2015/16, with the majority being resolved at a local 
level at Level 1 and 2. A fairly sizeable number went to Level 3 but few were so intractable that 
the dispute progressed higher. The majority of DRs were rooted in a lack of timeliness in putting 
Pre-Meeting Reports on within the required timeframe, and this was a particular issue within the 
UASC service for a variety of reasons. Further areas for resolution were the Care Plan/Pathway 
Plan processes, usually around the timeliness of their preparation but also in some cases about 
the quality of the content. There have been issues in meeting the educational and health needs 
of the UASC population in particular. There has been a lack of educational opportunities 
available to this cohort because of a range of factors including the volume of need but also the 
requirement for students to gain qualifications in English and Maths at 19, which has reduced 
the availability of ESOL courses etc. In raising a Dispute Resolution IROs are mindful of the 
pressures on social workers and take into account their ability to achieve change, but in these 
cases there is a clear disadvantage to the young person’s outcomes that has required a formal 
challenge.  

Social work performance and practice

 CIC for at least 18 months who have had the same Social Worker for 12 months (Inc. UASC)

Page 50



Impact of staff turnover

35. The turnover of social workers has been decreasing month on month with a corresponding 
improvement in the rag rating of this indicator, but particularly within the UASC teams there has 
been a consistent challenge and changes of social worker have impacted on the timeliness of 
care planning. Repeated changes of social worker impacts on the willingness of the young 
person to engage with successive social workers and a number of Dispute Resolutions have been 
triggered by the IRO Service as a result of the deficits this causes in young people’s care 
experience. We acknowledge the efforts made to recruit and retain staff and recognise the 
difficulties the ongoing UASC situation in particular posed to the establishment of a “business as 
usual” service model. Nevertheless it is the IRO Service’s role to promote an optimum service to 
all of our young people in line with national requirements.

Late Notifications of care entry

36. A late notification is defined as 2 or more working days after the child has come in to care. A 
delay in the IRO service being notified promptly delays an IRO being appointed and makes it 
harder to ensure that the initial review takes place on time. In 2015/16 there were 120 late 
notifications, a minor improvement on the 137 on the previous year.

Performance

IROs Quality Assurance Grading of CIC Care Plans resulted in  

Good or Better -61.8%- 3692 out of 5973

Requiring Improvement to Good- 26.6% -1586 out of 5973

 Inadequate- 11.6%- 695 out of 5973

Monthly QA Reporting Grading of:

Page 51



LAC Planning

37. The IRO Review QA process and Monthly Quality Assurance audits demonstrate that the quality 
of planning for Children in Care has remained static in the last year in the Good category, but 
there is a need for IROs to drill down into these figures to assess whether there are issues 
around the administration of the LAC process which is preventing a better performance profile 
or whether there is a lack of real engagement with and aspiration for young people within care 
planning.  

LAC Review

“Has the Care Plan been shared with the child/young person and are their views recorded?”

84.2% (4378 out of 5198)

“Is the Care Plan/Pathway Plan being implemented within the child/young person's time frame?”

81.3% (4761 out of 5856)

Child Focused Practice 

Good or better 78.8% of 383 QA Audits

Inadequate 11.6% of 60 QA Audits

38. There has been a measurable improvement in the grading of the processes that go into making 
up a meaningful CIC Review, but Monthly QA monitoring suggests it is still marked by what could 
be considered only above average performance. However the IRO Review QA process suggests a 
more positive picture when looking at core elements to a purposeful review and ongoing care 
planning for children and young people in care, although an 11.6% Inadequate rating for child 
focused practice is an area for close examination and action setting in the relevant cases.

Page 52



Change of Review dates 

39. There were 425 requests to change the date of LAC reviews for a range of appropriate reasons. 
The process requires the agreement of the area Assistant Director and the AD for Safeguarding 
and Quality Assurance to ensure that reviews do not change without good reason. 

40. Identified Areas for Improvement in the social work service to Looked After Children 
 There is a need to evidence that parental consent has been obtained particularly for Section 

20 cases.
 Life story work for children in permanent placements needs to continue to improve and be 

more consistent and timely.
 Pre Meeting Reports are not regularly being provided 3 working days before the review and 

some do not provide a comprehensive update and analysis.
 Distribution of review minutes are not always circulated in a timely way to participants.
 Varied availability and use of interpreters, timeliness of age assessments, timely access to 

legal advice, limited access to education particularly for older UASC young people, and 
health assessments.

 Placement Plans need to be updated when children change placement or change of 
circumstances.

 Stability Core Group meetings and Adolescent Risk Management meetings are being used, 
however there is limited note of Disruption meetings

 Care Plan implementation

 Areas identified as being ‘Good’

 There is an overall reduction in delay and drift including the review of children subject to 
Section: 20

 Good communication and liaison between district teams and IROs including timely alerting 
of the IRO to significant changes in most districts

 Clearer efforts are being made to family find for children with a plan for adoption including 
Foster to Adopt and early identification for babies, often matching at approval or with 
existing sibling adopters. 

 Timeliness in reviewing whether adoption continues to be a feasible plan or needs to be 
changed to long term fostering 

 Evidence of the Signs of Safety approach being utilised  in casework including direct work 
tools with children e.g. Three Houses 

What children and young people told us

41. Through the Child in Care Survey and Participation Report we are able to gain insight into what 
young people feel about their care experience. Taking findings from Quarters 2/3/4 this is what 
children and young people said:

Page 53



 Support us to chair our reviews.
 Let us know why you are visiting us.
 Support us to complete the consultation booklets-your views and comments.
 Explain to us the purpose of our review and the process of chairing the review meeting.
 Understand the role of the IRO.
 Help us to understand the plans for our future.
 Talk to us about where our reviews should be held and what time.

This is what we are doing in response

 IROs will make contact with you to discuss chairing your next review meeting. 
Your Social Worker/Foster Carer will also help prepare you for your review.

 IROs will ensure that you understand the reason for their visit to you.
 IROs will continue to remind your Social Worker to help you to complete your Consultation Booklet 

with their support or that of your carers.
 IROs will speak with you to explain the purpose of your review and how the meeting is done. Your 

social worker will also explain how you can get the most from your review 
 IROs/Social Workers will use the contact card and IRO leaflet to explain their role to you. 

(These have been translated into different languages and are available on the VSK website:-Kent 
Cares Town)

 IROs will make sure your care plan/pathway plan is up to date and discussed with you before the 
Review and check that you have been involved in what has been written in the Plan. They will also 
ensure that plans for your future are clear, not delayed and will raise any concerns you have with 
your Social Worker.

 IROs will continue to make sure that Social Workers tell you where your reviews will be held and at 
what time, but also check that you are happy with these arrangements and discuss alternatives if 
you are not.

42. Fewer children and young people feel concerned about where they live with most saying that 
they are happy in placement and the vast majority of young people said they felt safe in their 
placement. There was however a 20% drop when it came to how safe young people felt in their 
school environments to the mid 60%. Although the majority of young people who filled in 
consultation forms were happy in their schools there was a 7% increase in young people saying 
that they are not happy in their schools across the three quarters.

43. Around 50% of young people in care felt happy most of the time, but a significant proportion of 
young people responding in Consultations said they were Sad/Worried/Angry/Confused at 32% 
(Q2) 28% (Q3) 25% (Q4) most of the time.

44. Three quarters of young people who responded felt that they see their social worker at the right 
level but around 10% of young people do not feel that they see enough of their social workers. 

45. A minority of young people said that they understood what the plans for their future were at 
44%/26%/22% across Quarters 2 3 and 4. These figures should be seen in the context of the 
numbers of responses gained to the survey and the number of UASC young people involved, 
who may not know what the longer term future holds for them, which is a different scenario to 

Page 54



that of citizen children. However there is a need to analyse these figures further so that we are 
proactive in ensuring young people are fully aware of the planning for their future. 

46. In contrast to the low number of young people who understood their plan around 75% of young 
people were aware of the Complaints process. Only a just over a third were aware of “Our Young 
People’s Council” however and this dropped further when young people were asked about their 
awareness of the Kent Pledge. 

47.  Although the majority of children and young people state that they do not want to Chair their 
LAC reviews, around 15% say they would like to and a further +/-30% said that they might or did 
not give a definite view. Children and young people will continue to be encouraged and 
supported by IROs and social workers to take an active part in their reviews, including the 
number of children who chair all or part of their Review. 

48. Children and young people consultation booklets are now available in 5 different languages to 
cater for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children we work with. 

This is the first time I felt like a human. I 
feel like people care about me. Because I 
never had this feeling when I was in my 

country

Everything got my 
life on track

They understood me. IRO asks the right 
questions. They explained things well

Ruined the 
relationship with 

my family

Sent me on wrong path 
(meeting other kids in care)

They always made sure I was 
okay. Always helped me when I 

needed it

Page 55



Conclusion

49. The IRO Service has had a very busy year, particularly in light of the UASC situation from June 
2015 onwards. Excluding UASC, the number of children who have entered or left the care system 
has remained relatively stable and the Council has continued to invest in the Service through the 
regrade of IROs and through improved admin support. Caseloads have been maintained at 
around 70 per FTE but the ability of IROs to see a young person between reviews has been 
hampered by UASC issues predominantly. The Service remains aspirational in this respect, seeing 
it as a crucial aspect of the IRO role, and one that can provide real added value to the 
relationship with children and young people. 

50. The IRO service has strengthened the challenge function of the role over the last year through 
the Dispute Resolution Process to address delay and drift for children in care. Constructive 
challenge is an expectation identified in the IRO Handbook and an element of the service which 
Ofsted will expect to see evidence of during their Inspections.  We recognise that Dispute 
Resolution will continue to be a challenge in how it is received and acted upon by operational 
colleagues and the IRO Service will retain objectivity in order to be part of the solution. 

51. The Service must focus on setting the consistent standards expected across the County and 
holding areas accountable for them if it is to continue to be taken seriously. The IRO service in 
2016/17 will need to raise its profile as the link between the child, their parents and carers and 
the local authority, and promote the continuity that improves placement stability and the 
provision of the most relevant support

52. Knowing the wishes and feelings of our children and young people and helping them to 
participate fully in their review has to remain a priority. Going forward the IRO with the social 
worker needs to encourage many more young people to actively Chair their reviews. The Service 
needs to gather the views of foster carers, other providers of care to our young people and the 
views of parents in particular on how well the Council is fulfilling its responsibilities, but also to 
act as the co-ordinator of the support network that will assist young people to achieve their 
goals and aspirations into the future. 

53. There are likely to be many challenges in the coming year which will require the IRO Service to 
continue to focus on the quality of provision to children and young people, improvements, both 
within the offer to children in care but also on how it fulfils its roles and to continue to ensure 
the child remains at the centre of all of our processes.

54. As a service we are mindful of our safeguarding responsibilities for children in care who are 
vulnerable to sexual exploitation, substance misuse, missing episodes and disengaging from 
education and training. We will continue to monitor Care Plans closely and to include actions 
which build safety and stability for children and young people. There is growing need to be 
vigilant to the emotional needs of young people, particularly in respect of vulnerable 
adolescents but also our UASC young people who we know little about or how they may have 
been affected by possible trauma in their past.

Page 56



55. The IRO Service notes the ongoing hard work and commitment of social workers and other 
professionals, particularly the Virtual School Kent in supporting young people who are looked 
after. Despite some inevitable tensions the quality of the relationship with Children’s Social Care 
in particular remains a strength.

Targets for 2016/2017

 Improved methods of consulting with children and young people in between reviews and 
particularly ensuring they understand the purpose of care planning and their involvement in 
the process. 

 To ensure that a greater number of young people are supported to chair their own reviews 
 To review and relaunch the Participation and Consultation process with parents and carers 

and to improve the response rate from young people including the use of new media 
platforms

 To integrate the Signs of Safety approach into the LAC Review process

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 26 May 2016

Subject: HEAD TEACHER OF VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT UPDATE REPORT

Classification:

Electoral Divisions:

Unrestricted 

All

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of the Pupil Premium 
Grant for Children in Care, known as Pupil Premium Plus Policy, and 
the key changes for financial year 2016-17.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to ENDORSE 
the Virtual School Kent Pupil Premium Policy for Children in Care for 
2016-17.

1. Introduction

1.1The DfE made significant changes to the criteria and deployment of the Children in Care 
(CiC) element of the Pupil Premium (PP) grant since the 2014-15 financial year. These 
changes were researched and developed by the DfE through a pilot with West Sussex 
and their Virtual School. Following this pilot, the DfE produced two key documents 
announcing significant national changes in the arrangements for PP for CiC for the 
financial year 2014/15. These two documents can be found on the Virtual School Kent’s 
(VSK) website at:http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/

Pupil Premium Grant (PPG) 2014 to 2015 Conditions of Grant (March 2014 
updated July 2015)
Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School Head Teacher 2014-15
Frequently Asked Questions (March 2014)

1.2 Key changes included the formulae amount per CiC, which was raised to £1900; the 
length of time in care eligibility criteria, reduced from six months to first day in care, and 
the deployment model, which became ring-fenced to a set criteria, deployed through the 
Virtual School and its Head Teacher.

2. Background

2.1 All Virtual Schools were required to produce a working policy to meet the new 
deployment requirements, based on the two DfE documents listed above. The key 
guidance document was released on 24 March 2014, which was problematic for 
schools, which had already completed their budget build. This is why the Virtual School 
agreed to make a first direct payment of 5/12ths to each school, based on 31 March 
SSDA 903 return. All subsequent applications were to be made on a child’s needs 
driven model with no cash limit.

2.2 Overall principles underpinning our child’s needs driven model

Page 59

Agenda Item B4

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/


2.2.1 The Virtual School Head Teacher is responsible for the use of Pupil Premium Plus 
(PP+) to close the learning gap and realise the potential for all children in our care, 
wherever they live.

2.2.2 The funding will be provided according to the needs of the child, and there is no set 
amount.

2.2.3 Kent County Council and the Virtual School Head Teacher are Corporate Parents, so 
the question ‘would this be good enough for my child?’ is a central one in making 
decisions and evaluating the effectiveness of the use of PP+.

2.3. How and why will the amount of PP+ vary?

2.3.1 Children’s needs may vary over time and therefore a personalised approach is needed. 
For some children, a significant amount will be needed to fund the cost of the support 
they need.eg:

Children who come into care in an emergency with a fragmented home and education 
history, who are behind academically.

Children who move into or out of Kent, who may require additional support.
Children with significant and often delayed reaction to abuse and neglect, which may 

present as complex emotional, social and/or challenging behaviour, impacting on 
progress.

2.3.2 In view of this, there may be variations in the amount of PP+ distributed.

2.3.3 Proposals to pool PP+ in a school or group of schools to enhance services, providing 
its use is directly linked to the needs of CiC via the Personal Education Plan (PEP), are 
acceptable.

2.3.4 The full VSK PP+ Policy for Kent Children in Care 2015-16 can be found on the VSK 
website http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/resources/pupil-premium

3. PP+ Consultation 2016 

3.1 Term 3 has seen the first formal consultation process into the deployment model of the 
PP+ grant within Kent. The questionnaire highlighted that the majority of schools found 
the application process easy to use, with 27% finding it more challenging. There were 
also a number of extremely favourable comments made regarding the current system, 
such as:-

 Improved system through ePEP
 You can monitor your applications as it is electronic
 You can apply for what is needed (no ceiling)
 Easy to tie in with young person’s targets
 Funding is available for things that are greatly beneficial 
 Great system support when needed
 The fact I have so many children, the annual process makes it easier to provide 

tutorial, counselling and any other specific resource or agency as well as 
reducing administration and time

3.2 The consultation also gave stakeholders the opportunity to influence the deployment 
model for the next financial year 2016-17.  Despite the positive comments above, 
through their responses, schools have signified a desire to move away from the current 
system. There were three delivery options tabled, which were:-

Page 60

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/resources/pupil-premium


1. Continuation of current system (100% application process)
2. Part direct-fund, part application process
3. Total direct-fund to school

3.3 The outcome showed a preference towards Option 2, with 44% selecting this option as 
their first choice and 90% selecting it as their first or second choice. This compares to 
the option that came in second, of continuing the current system, which had 28% 
selecting it as first choice and 54% as first or second choice.

4. Key Changes Proposed within Pupils Premium Policy Update 2016-17

4.1 The majority of the proposed 2016-17 financial year policy (Attached as Appendix 1) 
remains the same as 2015-16. The key change within the draft update is the 
deployment model. It is the intention of the Head Teacher of the Virtual School, who has 
statutory responsibility for this grant and its deployment, to listen to the schools via the 
consultation and move towards a part initial payment, part application deployment 
model.

4.2 The intention is that schools are allocated £900 per CiC, paid via the schools advance 
system in three £300 termly instalments. Instalments will allow the money directly 
allocated to move with our young person, should they need to change school. The initial 
allocation will also come with set expectations, which include:-

 Termly high-quality PEPs are completed, which can also be aligned to 
additional PP+ funding requests

 Termly progress and current attainment data shared through the ePEP
 Impact of interventions funded through PP+ are evidenced
 PP+ allocation must be spent in line with the Terms and Conditions of Grant 

as dictated by the DfE.

4.3 The initial allocations expenditure will be scrutinised via the ePEP system and the 
Virtual Schools tracking and monitoring visits. It is expected that the change in 
deployment model will further improve transparency of data sharing between the school 
and the corporate parent and also have a positive impact on the quality and timeliness 
of personal education planning. In addition to the initial allocation, schools will be able to 
apply for additional funding based on evidenced need of the young person, which is the 
exact same process as last financial year. 

5.  Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to ENDORSE 
the Virtual School Kent Pupil Premium Policy for Children in Care for 2016-17.

6. Background Documents

None

7. Contact Details

Lead Officer
Tony Doran
Head Teacher, Virtual School Kent
07921038094
tony.doran@kent.gov.uk

Page 61

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk


Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 62

mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Virtual School Kent 
Pupil Premium Plus Policy for 

Kent Children in Care

April 2016- March 2017

Page 63



                    

1. Introduction

This policy is informed by the three key Department of Education (DfE) documents 
announcing significant national changes in the arrangements for Pupil Premium for Children 
in Care (CiC) for financial year 2015/16. These three documents can be found on our 
website at: http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/

 Pupil Premium Grant 2015 to 2016 Conditions of Grant (1st July 2015) (to be 
replaced with 2016-17 Conditions of Grant once published)

 Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School Headteacher  -  Frequently 
Asked Questions (March 2014)

 Early Years Pupil Premium: Guide for Local Authorities https://www.gov.uk/early-
years-pupil-premium-guide-for-local-authorities

Throughout our policy, the Pupil Premium for CiC will be referred to as Pupil Premium Plus to 
distinguish it from other forms of Pupil Premium allocations. 

The key changes are:

 Children and young people between the ages of four to sixteen years will be eligible as 
soon as they enter care.

 Although Local Authorities continue to be responsible for distributing the Pupil Premium 
Plus payments for CiC to schools and academies, the Virtual School Headteachers are now 
directly responsible for making sure there are effective arrangements in place for allocating 
Pupil Premium Plus funding to benefit CiC to their authority.

 The overall grant allocated to each Local Authority will be calculated on a per capita basis, 
however it does not have to be distributed on a per capita basis, given that children and 
young people in care have differing levels of need at different stages of being in care

 The grant must be managed by the Virtual School and used to improve attainment, narrow 
the gap and accelerate progress as identified in the young person’s Personal Education 
Plan (PEP) in consultation with the Designated Teacher. 

 In April 2015 further development introduced the Early Years Pupil Premium paid to children 
looked after aged 3 and 4.

The Pupil Premium Plus and Early Years Pupil Premium funding will be allocated according
to the following principles:
 Children and young people will be eligible from the first day of the care episode.

 The Local Authority that looks after the child is responsible for distributing the Pupil Premium  
Plus payments to schools, settings and academies.

 The Virtual School Head is responsible for making sure that there are effective arrangements in 
place for allocating Pupil Premium Plus and Early Years Pupil Premium funding to benefit 
children looked after by their Authority.

 The grant must be managed by the Virtual School and used to improve outcomes and “narrow 
the achievement gap” as identified for individual children and young people in the targets set 
within their Personal Education Plan (PEP) in consultation with the Designated Teacher or 
Designated Person in the setting.

Page 64

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/


                    

 The PEP must be monitored and reviewed closely by the Designated Teacher or Person, the 
Social Worker and Independent Reviewing Officer for effectiveness.

 The PEP must be reviewed on a termly basis by the Designated Teacher or Person.

 The ePEP will be used for all Kent children looked after 

 The ePEP, once fully completed each term, will trigger the payment of the Pupil Premium grant 
to the school or setting.

 All PEPs and ePEPs will be monitored for SMART targets that have a positive impact on the 
improvement of educational outcomes.

As a result of the above changes, our allocation of Pupil Premium Plus needs to move to a model 
driven by a child’s needs, managed through high quality PEPs.  

As a result PEPs will need to be monitored even more closely by Designated Teachers, the 
Virtual School, Social Workers and Independent Reviewing Officers.  

NB: In addition and through a separate process, children adopted from care will be entitled to 
£1,900 passed directly to the school.  This grant is outside the remit of this policy and the role of 
the Virtual School. 

2.   Pupil Premium Plus Policy

2.1. Overall principles underpinning our child’s needs driven model

The Virtual School Headteacher is responsible for the use of Pupil Premium Plus to close the 
learning gap and realise the potential for all children in our care, wherever they live.

Initially £900 will be allocated per Child in Care which will be paid in three £300 termly instalments. 
Any additional funding will be provided according to the needs of the child and there is no set 
maximum amount.

Kent County Council and the Virtual School Headteacher are Corporate Parents, so the question 
‘would this be good enough for my child?’ is a central one in making decisions and evaluating the 
effectiveness of the use of Pupil Premium Plus

 £900 will be allocated to the schools or settings for all Kent children looked after both in and 
out of the Local Authority) at £300 per term.

 Allocation of the funding will be linked to clear Personal Education Plan targets for progress
 The Virtual School Head is responsible for the allocation of the Pupil Premium to schools 

and settings but will hold the schools and settings that receive the funding accountable for 
evidence of the effective and efficient use for the purpose it has been provided.

 Schools remain accountable for the educational attainment and progress of all 
disadvantaged pupils.

 Schools should ensure that the funding is used to narrow the gap between the outcomes for 
children looked after and all other children within the school as well as all children 
nationally.

 Schools can apply for additional funding in response to the changing needs of the child 
discussed during the Personal Education Planning meeting and for an agreed intervention.

Page 65



                    

 None of the grant will be used to pay for Virtual School management or grant 
administration.

 The Local Authority is not permitted to carry forward funding held centrally into the financial 
year 2016-2017. Grant held centrally that has not been spent by 31 March2017 will be  
recovered.

In line with all allocations of grant it is expected that:-

 Termly high quality PEPs are completed, which can also be aligned to additional Pupil 
Premium Plus funding requests

 Termly progress and current attainment data shared through the ePEP
 Impact of interventions funded through Pupil Premium Plus are evidenced
 Pupil Premium Plus allocation must be spent in line with the Terms and Conditions of Grant 

as dictated by the DfE.

2.2. How and why will the amount of Pupil Premium Plus vary?

Children’s needs may vary over time and therefore a personalised approach is needed. For some 
children a significant amount will be need to fund the cost of the support they need.eg:

 Children who come into care in an emergency with a fragmented home and education history 
who are behind academically

 Children who move into or out of Kent who may require additional support
 Children with significant and often delayed reaction to abuse and neglect, which may present 

as complex emotional, social and/or challenging behaviour impacting on progress. 

In view of this, there may be variations in the amount of Pupil Premium Plus distributed.

Proposals to pool Pupil Premium Plus in a school or group of schools to enhance services, 
providing its use is directly linked to the needs of CiC via the PEP, are acceptable.

2.3. Circumstances in which Pupil Premium Plus will not be agreed

Pupil Premium Plus will not be used to double fund or replace funding which should have or has 
already been allocated to the school to support the child. Specifically it cannot be used to:

 Fund services that should be provided via a statement or EHC plan 
 Provide other statutory work e.g. statutory assessment or support from health 

Pupil Premium Plus will not be paid if:

 The interventions put in place do not require any funding
 The school’s own funding covers the cost of the interventions
 The PEP targets do not meet requirements (see Appendix 1)

Whereas in the past, some schools have used the Pupil Premium Grant to fund interventions for 
other learners, or to provide interventions which had no link to the individual CiCs needs, this 
practice will no longer be permitted.

Page 66



                    

3.  Management and Accountability

The Headteacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) will be accountable to Kent County Councils 
Corporate Parenting Panel and for setting up a transparent and rigorous allocation process and 
ensuring maximised impact of the grant. The Headteacher will be supported in this by the wider 
senior leadership team within VSK.

The Headteacher has responsibility that Pupil Premium Plus is used in-line with the conditions of 
grant 2016/2017 and KCC Virtual School Policy Statement.

The VSK Assistant Heads will be responsible for initial agreement of the spending plan and 
subsequent monitoring of the spending plan via the ePEP.  

The Designated Teacher is responsible for proposing an appropriate child’s needs driven 
spending plan. The Designated Teacher is accountable via the PEP meeting for monitoring and 
measuring the impact of the actions and interventions agreed. These will be reviewed in terms of 
narrowing the gap for impact.

The Social Worker and Foster Carer have a key role in supporting and informing the discussions 
at the PEP meeting for a proposal of how Pupil Premium Plus could be used. They also have a 
key role in supporting the young person in achieving their targets.

4. Pupil Premium Plus for Children and Young People from other Local 
Authorities

Each Local Authority has its own policy and therefore there will be variations.

Kent Schools who have Children and Young People in Care from other Local Authorities on their 
roll must contact the Headteacher of the relevant Virtual School to request their Pupil Premium 
Plus policy. The name and contact details of other Virtual School Headteachers can be requested 
from the Kent Virtual School team

5. Appeals Process

It is anticipated, that if the guidance outlined above is understood and followed; there will be 
agreement in respect of the applications submitted for Pupil Premium Plus. If however, there is a 
dispute which cannot be resolved between the school and the respective Assistant Head within 
Kent Virtual School then the appeal process can be activated.

Appeals will be heard by the Kent Virtual School Headteacher and  independent representatives 
from the Corporate Parenting Panel.  Decisions of this panel are final. 

Appeals should be submitted to virsch01@kent.gov.uk  by the Designated Teacher of the school, 
addressed to the Headteacher of Virtual School Kent, marked Pupil Premium Plus Appeal, and 
include the name of the child, their date of birth, and the grounds for the appeal. 

Page 67

mailto:virsch01@kent.gov.uk


                    

APPENDIX 1
Applying for Additional Pupil Premium Plus

The Pupil Premium Plus will only be provided to meet the needs identified in a high quality plan in 
the PEP meeting with clear quantitative (and exceptionally qualitative) targets for improvement, 
underpinned by well-targeted support.

The Pupil Premium Plus must be used to close the gap and for realising potential for children.  
Targets should fall within one of the following six areas of focus:

 Academic achievement and progress
 Attendance
 Emotional Health
 Transition
 Wider Achievement
 Inclusion (by reducing internal and external exclusion)

Underpinning the main ‘Area of Focus’, targeted interventions need to be identified and reflect the 
‘Sutton Trust’ recommendations.  Both the ‘Area of Focus’ and ‘Intervention Type’ are available as 
drop-down options in the ‘Target’ section of ePEP.

Additional application should be made online via the Target Section of the 
ePEP (Target Tracker)

 Application can be made at the time of the PEP meeting, using the Target Section within 
Section D (The PEP Meeting).

 In addition, application can be made at any other time as required, by using the Target 
Tracker option on the young person’s dashboard on ePEP.

 Targets should be smart, at least one related to a core subject and one out of school 
activity

Schools should select one of the three funding options below for each target.

1. One-off funding (eg: for a piece of equipment)
2. Regular funding (eg: 6 weeks tuition at £ per week) if schools are unsure of start date 

please put proposed start date.  Schools are expected to source their own tutoring.  
3. Yearly funding (eg: closing the gap writing intervention: 1:4 small group with hlta, 30 minute 

sessions 3 x week, focusing on personalised writing targets and aiming to achieve expected 
levels in the programme of study by end of academic year.

 An application for funding for a plan for the whole academic year can be made.  This does 
not mean that an application for additional funding if required later in the year cannot be 
made for the pupil concerned. In all cases a decision will be made by the VSK Assistant 
Head on funding requests.  Please note:  if a child subject to a VSK yearly agreement 
leaves your school/academy before the end of the academic year, the next payment will not 
be made.  The funding will follow the child and a new agreement will be made between 
VSK and the new school/academy.  

 Group or collaborative applications can be made and these can be applied for as normal 
through the Target Tracker for each child.  VSK would advise that you contact the relevant 
Assistant Head for your school to discuss this.

Page 68



                    

 Schools are accountable for the educational attainment and progress of all children and the 
new guidance from Ofsted means that schools will need to be able to demonstrate how the 
pupil premium is being used and the positive difference it makes.  Schools will need to 
evidence for each child in care how he/she is supported by the pupil premium+.

Allocation of funding to Kent Schools and recoupment policy

The Pupil Premium Grant will be transferred three times a year in the June, November and 
February advances via Kent’s schools finance system APSA (Accounts Payable Schools 
Advances).
Payments will be based on an agreed spending plan in line with the child’s needs.
Where there is a need to clarify what funding a school is providing from its own resources, the 
school may need to provide evidence before Pupil Premium Plus can be allocated.

We reserve the right to recoup the funding if there is evidence that the funding is not being used to 
address the needs of the CiC.

Allocation of funding to Other Local Authority Schools

Where schools and pupils are registered to use the online ePEP process the procedure for 
applications should replicate those in this Appendix.  Payment however, will be different.  Once 
schools receive notification via the ePEP process that target funding has been approved they 
should forward an invoice for payment (to include the ePEP Target ID number) to Kent County 
Council via e:mail to:  VSKFundingRequests@kent.gov.uk

For schools outside of Kent, not registered to use the online ePEP process, paper applications 
should be made using Appendix 2.

Allocation of grant to Special/Alternative/PRU/Independent providers and 
recoupment policy

Pupil Premium Plus will only be paid to independent special schools in exceptional circumstances. 
This is because the provision required by pupils in these settings is agreed at the time of 
placement and already invoiced and paid in full by Kent County Council.

Exceptional circumstances are identified through the young person’s needs and identified support, 
evidenced as additional to what the provider would be reasonably expected to provide

We reserve the right to recoup the funding if there is evidence that the funding is not being used to 
address the needs of the CiC.

This needs to be sent electronically to the Locality Assistant Head for approval.

Page 69

mailto:VSKFundingRequests@kent.gov.uk


                    

APPENDIX 2
PUPIL PREMIUM+ FUNDING APPLICATION FORM FOR OLA SCHOOLS ONLY
(SCHOOLS OUTSIDE OF KENT NOT USING ONLINE EPEP PROCESS)

Name of Child: Date of Birth:

School Name: Year Group:

DFEE Number:

AREA OF FOCUS FOR TARGET WITH FUNDING REQUEST (please tick one only)

 Academic Achievement & value added ☐

 Attendance ☐

 Emotional Health ☐

 Inclusion ☐

 Transition (by reducing internal & external exclusion) ☐

 Wider Achievement (eg a gifted & talented area) ☐

What will be done to improve the Focus Area/Target?:

Who will support the young person to achieve the target?

Virtual School Kent/Assistant Headteacher ☐

Designated Teacher/School ☐

Social Worker ☐

Foster Carer ☐

Intervention Type (please select ONLY one of the following options)

After School programme ☐ 1:1 Tuition ☐

Behaviour Interventions ☐ Oral Language Intervention ☐

Carer Support ☐ Outdoor Adventure learning ☐

Collaborative learning ☐ Parental involvement ☐

Digital Technology ☐ Peer tutoring ☐

Emotional Coaching ☐ Post 16 College liaison ☐

Feedback ☐ Provide access to internet ☐

Homework (Pri) ☐ Pupil incentive ☐

Homework (Sec) ☐ Small group + learning mentor ☐

Improving Self Esteem ☐ Social & emotional learning ☐

Inclusion Activity ☐ Summer School ☐

Inclusion Support ☐ Support Group ☐

Improvements Expected:

Attendance ☐ External Exclusions ☐

Internal Exclusions ☐ Subjects ☐
Page 70



                    

Improvement Area (eg YP’s self-assessed 
wellbeing in school):

Current Level: Expected Level after intervention

FUNDING:  (Please choose ONE type of funding from the four options below)

1. NO FUNDING ☐

2. ONE-OFF FUNDING ☐ How much Funding is needed? £

What will Funding purchase?

Comment:

3. REGULAR FUNDING ☐

How Many Hours per week? Cost per Hour £

Start Date: Number of weeks

Comment:

4. YEARLY FUNDING ☐

What will Funding purchase?

How much Funding is needed? £

Comment:

For VSK Use only:

Agreed Y/N                                       Amount Agreed:  £_______________

Date: ______________                    Assistant Head:__________________________

Refer back to school Y/N

Date entered on ePEP:  _________   Target ID No.  _____________________

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 26 May 2016

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for March 2016 is attached to this report

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT ON the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 The latest Children in Care Scorecard for March 2016 is attached as Appendix 
1 to this report.

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with a greater range of information to assist in understanding 
some of the factors impacting upon performance. 

2.2 The report is split into sections of measures and includes an overview of 
performance written by the nominated lead officer. Each performance measure 
has a dedicated page of additional information to assist with further 
understanding of current performance.  This information varies with the 
measure but typically provides trend information, breakdowns of data by 
groups e.g. age, gender, district, etc.  Where comparative figures are available, 
the latest Statistical Neighbour and England performance rates will be shown.

Page 73

Agenda Item B5



2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared so that performance issues can be further 
understood across organisations, resulting in improved outcomes for children 
and young people.

3. Recommendations

3.1  Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are  asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT ON  the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

4. Background documents

None

5. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 74

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 05 May 2016
SC SCS Management Information

Kent Corporate Parenting Group

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Quarter 4 2015/16

Quarterly Report

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Page 75



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 2 of 28

Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set.

An amber rating indicates that the current performance is close to the target set.

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

PLEASE NOTE: We have been unable to report on number of CIC who are first time entrants into the Youth Justice 
System due to an ongoing technical issue with the YOS Reporting System.

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators. Also, if the denominator is 0 no RAG rating 
has been applied

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and or analysis as a one off 
please log a request through our sharepoint page

Many of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 
the end of the current quarter. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 
caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 
reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this quarter when compared to last quarter. 
Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 
or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last quarter.

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

Page 76

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 79.7% R 1,797 2,256 98% 77.2% 97.1%
Participation at Reviews H YTD 95.0% G 5,379 5,660 95% 95.3% 95.6%
Looked after for at least 18 months who've had the same SW for 12 months L SS 59.5% G 624 1,048 50% 59.1% 47.0%

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 SS 70.7 2320    328,250 73.9 57.0
CIC with a Child Protection Plan SS 21 24 13
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1289 1287 1211
% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 5.9% 93 1,584 5.5% 7.9%
% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 1.8% 42 2,320 1.8% 1.8%
No. who are first time entrants into  the Youth Justice System L YTD See note

% looked after continuously for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term exclusion (latest data 2014) L A 13.6% R 9.8% 14.1%
% persistently absent from school L A 6.4% R 4.7% 6.5%
% achieving level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 H A 74.0% G 68% 61%
% achieving level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 H A 65.0% G 59% 46%
% achieving level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 H A 67.0% G 61% 52%
% achieving 5+ A*-C at GCSE inc. Eng and Maths H A 14.7% G 14% 15%

No. permanently excluded L AC YTD 11 10 4
No. on a part-time timetable L M 77 47 57
% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement L SS 20.8% 259 1,244
% of PEP's within 6 month timescale H SS 84.3% 1,284 1,523
% of statutory school age CIC with no school recorded (excl. UASC) L SS 9.3% 121 1,307 6.8% 5.2%

% of Initial Health Assessment referrals made within 5 days H YTD 34.0% R 479 1,407 80% 26.1% 29.1%
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 86.7% A 1,079 1,244 90% 90.7% 89.7%
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 90.4% G 1,124 1,244 90% 91.6% 89.0%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H YTD 20.4% 279 1,366 17.1% 29.5%
SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April L YTD 14.1 11,848 842 14.1%

Placement stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months L SS 12.5% R 290 2,320 9% 12.1% 9.6%
Placement stability: same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.9% A 397 568 70% 71.7% 72.7%
% in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (Exc. UASC) H SS 87.2% G 1,042 1,195 85% 87.6% 84.9%
% in foster care placed within 20 miles from home (exc. UASC) H SS 81.4% G 1,142 1,403 80% 79.5% 82.3%
% in residential placements (P&V and KCC Residential) excl UASC L SS 5.9% G 86 1,454 6% 5.7% 5.1%

% placed in other local authorities L SS 18.4% 426 2,320 18.1% 11.4%
% placed in non-related other local authority placements L SS 18.2% 423 2,320 18.0% 11.2%
No. of missing incidents lasting longer than 48 hrs L YTD 389
% of return interviews completed H YTD 84.8% 1,603 1,891 87.1%

% of cases adoption agreed as plan by 2nd review, for those with an agency decision H YTD 55.4% R 51 92 86% 57.3% 68.2%
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L YTD 499.4 A 51,434 103 426 527.1 527.1
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L YTD 222.1 A 22,657 102 121 235.2 209.5
% of Children leaving care who were adopted H YTD 9.2% R 103 1,118 13% 10.1% 19.7%

% of cases with a plan of twin / triple tracking, that remain so at or after the 3rd LAC Review L SS 22.2% 12 54 24.5% 26.3%
% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 66.3% 61 92 68.7% 63.8%
Ave days from: 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Placement Order being granted' H YTD 67.5 6141 91 65.9 70.5
% where: 6 mths from 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Panel recommendation to match' L YTD 75.9% 63 83 79.4% 42.3%
% 'Placed for Adoption' within 12 months of the 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 70.9% 73 103 67.1% 78.7%
% who wait less than 14 mths between becoming Looked After and being Placed for Adoption H YTD 67.2% 133 198 66.1% 46.6%
% of sibling groups that were placed together H YTD 88.2% 15 17 90.9% 96.4%
% awaiting adoption L SS 1.9% 44 2320 1.6% 2.8%
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc. UASC) H YTD 15.4% 103 668 15.0% 25.9%
% Adopted aged 5 or over H YTD 3.1% 29 927 3.3% 4.5%
% Adopted aged 5 or over (exc. UASC) H YTD 6.1% 29 477 5.6% 6.8%
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds H YTD 1.0% 5 508 1.7% 4.4%
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds (exc. UASC) H YTD 7.5% 5 67 10.0% 16.0%
% Adopted who have a disability H YTD 8.6% 5 58 5.0% 11.1%
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H YTD 4.2% 47 1118 5.2% 5.9%
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H YTD 7.0% 47 668 7.8% 7.6%
% for whom the permanence plan has changed away from Adoption L YTD 13.2% 30 228 9.2% 9.6%

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation H YTD 63.8% A 962 1508 78% 62.1% 64.9%
Care leavers in employment, education or training H YTD 40.9% A 617 1508 45% 39.4% 39.3%
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H YTD 70.2% A 1058 1508 75% 67.5% 72.9%

% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW H SS 75.6% A 334.6 442.8 85% 75.1% 79.0%
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 16.0 A 1,763 110.4 15 16.0 15.3
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 66.9 G 2,320.0 34.7 70 72.4 75.4

Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom

Scorecard

Target for 
15-16

Q3 2015/16 
Result

Outturn Result

Children: Lead - Naintara Khosla

Education: Lead - Tony Doran

Health & Wellbeing: Lead - Sarah Skinner

Placements: Lead - Naintara Khosla

Adoption: Lead - Naintara Khosla

Care Leavers: - Sue Clifton

Staffing: Philip Segurola

Page 77



Children: Lead - Naintara Khosla
Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 79.7% R 1,797 2,256 98% 97.4% A 1,385 1,422 +17.7%
Participation at Reviews H YTD 95.0% G 5,379 5,660 95% 97.3% G 3,420 3516 +2.2%
Looked after for at least 18 months who've had the same SW for 12 months L SS 59.5% G 624 1,048 50% 60.5% G 565 934 +1.0%

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 SS 70.7 2320      328,250 44.3 1454       328,250 -26
CIC with a Child Protection Plan SS 21 21 0
Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1289 - -
% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 5.9% 93 1,584 13.7% 87 636 +7.8%
% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 1.8% 42 2,320 2.6% 38 1,454 +0.8%
No. who are first time entrants into  the Youth Justice System L YTD See note See note -

Education: Lead - Tony Doran
% looked after continuously for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term exclusion (latest data 2014) L A 13.6% R 9.8% - - -
% persistently absent from school L A 6.4% R 4.7% - - -
% achieving level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2 H A 74.0% G 68% - - -
% achieving level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2 H A 65.0% G 59% - - -
% achieving level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2 H A 67.0% G 61% - - -
% achieving 5+ A*-C at GCSE inc. Eng and Maths H A 14.7% G 14% - - -

No. permanently excluded L AC YTD 11 11 0
No. on a part-time timetable L M 77 62 -15
% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement L SS 20.8% 259 1,244 23.7% 252 1,063 +2.9%
% of PEP's within 6 month timescale H SS 84.3% 1,284 1,523 92.8% 1,008 1,086 +8.5%
% of statutory school age CIC with no school recorded (excl. UASC) L SS - - - 9.3% 121           1,307 -

Health & Wellbeing: Lead - Sarah Skinner
% of Initial Health Assessment referrals made within 5 days H YTD 34.0% R 479 1,407 80% 52.8% R 266 504 +18.7%
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 86.7% A 1,079 1,244 90% 89.5% A 951 1,063 +2.7%
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 90.4% G 1,124 1,244 90% 91.7% G 975 1,063 +1.4%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H YTD 20.4% 279 1,366 36.3% 175 482 16%
SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April L YTD 14.1 11,848 842 14.7 11,336 774 0.6

Placements: Lead - Naintara Khosla
Placement stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months L SS 12.5% R 290 2,320 9% 11.1% A 162 1,454 -1%
Placement stability: same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.9% A 397 568 70% 70.1% G 394 562 0%
% in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (Exc. UASC) H SS 87.2% G 1,042 1,195 85% 87.2% G 1,042 1,195 0%
% in foster care placed within 20 miles from home (exc. UASC) H SS 81.4% G 1,142 1,403 80% 81.4% G 1,142 1,403 0%
% in residential placements (P&V and KCC Residential) L SS 7.0% A 163 2,320 6% 5.9% G 86 1,454 -1%

% placed in other local authorities L SS 18.4% 426 2,320 10.2% 149 2,320 -8.1%
% placed in non-related other local authority placements L SS 18.2% 423 2,320 10.0% 146 1,454 -8.2%
No. of missing incidents lasting longer than 48 hrs L YTD 389 247 -142
% of return interviews completed H YTD 84.8% 1,603 1,891 89.1% 1,447 1,624 +4.3%

Adoption: Lead - Naintara Khosla
% of cases adoption agreed as plan by 2nd review, for those with an agency decision H YTD 55.4% R 51 92 86% - - - - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L YTD 499.4 A 51434 103 426 - - - - -
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L YTD 222.1 A 22657 102 121 - - - - -
% of Children leaving care who were adopted H YTD 9.2% R 103 1118 13% 15.4% G 103 668 6%

% of cases with a plan of twin / triple tracking, that remain so at or after the 3rd LAC Review L SS 22.2% 12 54 - - - -
% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 66.3% 61 92 - - - -
Ave days from: 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Placement Order being granted' H YTD 67.5 6141 91 - - - -
% where: 6 mths from 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Panel recommendation to match' L YTD 75.9% 63 83 - - - -
% 'Placed for Adoption' within 12 months of the 'Agency Decision to adopt' H YTD 70.9% 73 103 - - - -
% who wait less than 14 mths between becoming Looked After and being Placed for Adoption H YTD 67.2% 133 198 - - - -
% of sibling groups that were placed together H YTD 88.2% 15 17 - - - -
% awaiting adoption L SS 1.9% 44 2320 - - - -
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc. UASC) H YTD 15.4% 103 668 - - - -
% Adopted aged 5 or over H YTD 3.1% 29 927 - - - -
% Adopted aged 5 or over (exc. UASC) H YTD 6.1% 29 477 - - - -
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds H YTD 1.0% 5 508 - - - -
% Adopted from Black & Minority Ethnic backgrounds (exc. UASC) H YTD 7.5% 5 67 - - - -
% Adopted who have a disability H YTD 8.6% 5 58 - - - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H YTD 4.2% 47 1118 - - - -
% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H YTD 7.0% 47 668 - - - -
% for whom the permanence plan has changed away from Adoption L YTD 13.2% 30 228 - - - -

Care Leavers: - Sue Clifton
Care Leavers in suitable accommodation H YTD 63.8% A 962 1508 78% 67.9% A 585 861 4%
Care leavers in employment, education or training H YTD 40.9% A 617 1508 45% 40.1% A 345 861 -1%
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with H YTD 70.2% A 1058 1508 75% 75.7% G 652 861 6%

Staffing: Philip Segurola
% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW H SS 75.6% A 335 443 85% - - - - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 16.0 A 1,763 110 15 - - - - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 66.9 G 2,320 35 70 41.9 G 1,454 35 -25

Variance 
with UASC 
Excluded

Scorecard

Latest Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom

Including UASC Excluding UASC

Target for 
15-16Indicator

Po
la

rit
y

Data 
Period

Latest Result and 
RAG Status

Num Denom

Page 78



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 5 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

+0.2% +0.1% +0.2% +3.4% +5.6% +8.5% +11.7% +19.3% +20.5% +19.8% +19.2% +17.7% +10.5%

CIC reviews outside of timescale by gender and age

459 out of 2256 were reviewed out of timescale. Performance against this indicator has been significantly impacted upon by the increase in the 
number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). The high levels of demand due to the increasing numbers of UASC from June 2015 
through to November 2015 meant that there was insufficient capacity to carry out reviews for these young people within the four week 
timescale. These will continue to be reported as being outside of timescales for the remainder of the reporting year (April-March).If the UASC 
cohort are excluded from this measure, performance is at 97.4% and close to the 98% target. All UASC cases are now allocated to social 
workers so we anticipate that performance in this practice area will improve.

% CIC cases which were reviewed within required timescales

PID Reference K25
Current RAG Red - 79.7%

The percentage of Children in Care cases which should have been reviewed during the year ending 
31 March that were reviewed in accordance with the appropriate timescales.  

Last 12 months5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16)

Commentary

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Children
Naintara KhoslaLead

Theme

Male 
415 
90% 

Female 
44 

10% 

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

8 1 

100 

306 

4 6 

8 

26 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16 Yrs+

Male Female

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

UASC 
422 
92% 

Non UASC 
37 
8% 

Page 79



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 6 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

+1.9% +1.7% +1.8% +1.9% +2.1% +2.6% +2.6% +2.6% +2.4% +2.4% +2.4% +2.2% +2.2%

Participation at LAC Reviews by age and participation Since April

Age's of the children who did not participate in their LAC review since April

281 out of 5660 children and young people did not communicate their views at review, or have their views 
communicated for them. More than half of all young people over 10 either attended their review, spoke for 
themselves or an advocate attended with them or acted on their behalf. An increasing number of children chaired 
their own review meeting. The figure indicates a slight downward trend and we continue to maintain a focus in 
ensuring that children and young people participate in their reviews.

0-4 Yrs 16+ Yrs10-15 Yrs5-9 Yrs

8 (53%)

33 (39%)

1415 (38%)

165 (17%)

87 (16%)

3 (20%)

8 (9%)

206 (5%)

39 (4%)

42 (8%)

2 (13%)

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference K26

Commentary

Participation at Child In Care Reviews

Green - 95.0%Current RAG

The number of Children in Care reviews where the children and young people communicated their 
views specifically as a percentage of the number of CIC reviews taken place in the year to date 
excluding participation code PN0 (where the child is under the age of four years old).

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Theme Children

2 (13%)

42 (49%)

2139 (57%)

376 (39%)

225 (41%)

Key - PN1 Child attended & spoke for self;     PN2 Child attended - advocate spoke;     PN3 Child attended - gave views non verbally;     
PN5 Child not attended, advocate briefed with views;     PN6 Child not attended,  views sent

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

2 (2%)

6 (0%)

389 (40%)

190 (35%)

85%

87%

89%

91%

93%

95%

97%

99%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

50%
55%
60%
65%
70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

0% 

2% 

13% 

8% 

4% 

5% 

9% 

20% 

35% 

40% 

38% 

39% 

53% 

41% 

39% 

57% 

49% 

13% 

16% 

17% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

PN1

PN2

PN3

PN5

PN6

0 1 
12 6 7 

25 

56 

174 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

With a Disability

Without a Disability

UASC 
185 
66% 

Non UASC 
96 

34% 

Page 80



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 7 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

-0.4% +3.0% +3.0% +3.0% +3.1% +3.0% +3.2% +2.6% +1.5% +0.6% +0.4% +1.0%

Number of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more split by age

Number and Percentage of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more

Children

This is a new indicator to reflect an ongoing commitment to ensuring that children in our care have a consistent 
social worker wherever possible. The work of the transformation programme has reduced the number of transfer 
points to promote a consistency of worker for children and young people. Performance continues to be affected by 
the challenge in recruiting qualified and experienced social work staff.

Commentary

CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same Social Worker for 12 months 
(Inc. UASC)

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference
Current RAG Green - 59.5%

Theme

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

9 68 

191 
156 

6 

49 

0

50

100

150

200

250

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

Exc. UASC
Inc. UASC

Maidstone AIT & FST 
2 

1% 

North Kent CIC 
63 

15% 

East Kent Can-Swa CIC 
107 
25% 

East Kent Tha CIC 
39 
9% 

South Kent CIC 
63 

15% 

West Kent CIC 
127 
30% 

Disability EK 
13 
3% 

Disability WK 
10 
2% 

Page 81



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 8 of 28

Definition

DefinitionEducation
Lead Tony Doran Persistent absentees are defined as pupils who have missed 15% or more of school sessions through 

authorised or unauthorised absence.PID Reference
Current RAG Red - 6.4%

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for twelve months 
with at least one fixed term exclusion from school

Theme Education

2014-15 was a challenging year which saw a reduction in our education welfare officer capacity. We currently still carry a vacant 
post, which we are actively recruiting to. This coupled with the increase in UASC has led to the increase Pupil premium plus grant 
being used to work with schools to improve attendance. Despite these challenges 2014-15 academic year still saw a 0.1% 
reduction in Persistent Absenteeism. This remains a priority area for the Virtual School

Lead Tony Doran This indicator shows the number of children who have been looked after for at least a year who have 
had at least one fixed term exclusion.  A fixed term exclusion refers to a pupil who is excluded from a 
school but remains on the register of that school because they are expected to return when the 
exclusion period ends.

PID Reference
Latest RAG Red - 13.6%

Commentary

Last 8 Years

Commentary

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees

Theme

Last 8 Years

Latest available data as at March 2016 is data for 2014.
Reducing exclusions is a priority for the virtual school. Fixed term exclusions are difficult to monitor accurately as schools are not 
required to report fixed term exclusions more than once a year. In addition to this, the 62% reduction we have seen in 
permanent exclusions over the past 4 years has had a knock on effect of keeping fixed term exclusions high. Currently utilising 
pupil premium plus grant to work in areas of Kent to reduce fixed term exclusions.

17.3% 17.2% 
18.1% 

16.3% 
15.2% 

14.1% 13.6% 

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - Not Available Latest National Ave 9.8%

10.6% 
9.7% 9.4% 

7.7% 7.7% 

4.2% 

6.5% 6.4% 

3%

5%

7%

9%

11%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - Not Available Latest National Ave 4.7%

Page 82



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 9 of 28

Definition

Definition

Last 8 Years

Commentary
2014-15 was a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All four indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 6 
and 10% on 2013-14, with all indicators being between 3 and 4% above the latest national average for Children in Care (CiC). Positively Kent CiC 
has narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 2% in Writing and 7.2% in reading, writing and mathematics combined. 
From 2006 to 2011 this indicator was KS2 English.  From 2012, this was split into reading, writing, grammar, punctuation and spelling. The 
virtual school is pleased with the improvement and to be performing above our statistical neighbours latest published average and the national 
average for children in care. Direction of travel shows an increase of 6% in 2015 compared with 2014.

Lead Tony Doran
PID Reference
Current RAG No RAG Set

Latest RAG No RAG Set

Last 8 Years

Commentary

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Writing at Key Stage 2

Theme Education

2014-15 was a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All four indicators have seen an achievement 
improvement of between 6 and 10% on 2013-14, with all indicators being between 3 and 4% above the latest national average 
for Children in Care (CiC). Positively Kent CiC has narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 6.1% in Reading and 7.2% in reading, 
writing and mathematics combined. 
Direction of travel for reading shows an attainment increase of 9% in 2015 compared with 2014.

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Reading at Key Stage 2

Theme Education
Lead Tony Doran
PID Reference

39.0% 

32.0% 

46.0% 46.0% 44.0% 46.0% 

59.0% 

65.0% 

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - Not Available Latest National Ave - 61.0%

50.0% 
53.0% 

46.0% 

54.0% 

61.0% 
65.0% 

74.0% 

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour - Not Available Latest National - 71.0%

Page 83



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 10 of 28

Definition

Definition

Last 8 Years

Commentary
2014-15 was a successful year for our 138 young people at Key Stage 4. 2013-14 saw the introduction of the first entry only 
methodology which led to only 8% of our young people achieving 5A*-C inclusive of English and Mathematics. The results in the 
summer of 2015 saw a 4.3% improvement on the previous year’s outcome placing us roughly in line with the latest national 
average for CiC. In terms of best entry our children’s attainment improved by 1.7% to 14.7% compared with 2014. Kent CiC have 
also narrowed the achievement gap with all Kent learners by 5%.

Lead Tony Doran
PID Reference
Current RAG No RAG Set

Latest RAG No RAG Set

Last 8 Years

Commentary

% CIC achieving 5+ A* to C at GCSE (inc. English & Maths)

Theme Education

2014-15 was a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All four indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 6 
and 10% on 2013-14, with all indicators being between 3 and 4% above the latest national average for Children in Care (CiC). Positively Kent CiC 
has narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 10% in Mathematics and 7.2% in reading, writing and mathematics combined. The virtual school 
is pleased with the continued improvement in attainment in mathematics. It is positive to see that we are outperforming our statistical 
neighbours latest published average and the national average for children in care. Direction of travel shows an increase of 10% in 2015 
compared with 2014.

% CIC reaching Level 4 in Maths at Key Stage 2

Theme Education
Lead Tony Doran
PID Reference

8.5% 
9.5% 

6.2% 

11.0% 

15.3% 14.8% 
13.0% 

14.7% 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - Not Available Latest National Ave - 15.9%

32.0% 32.0% 

58.0% 

48.0% 
42.0% 

52.0% 
57.0% 

67.0% 

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone

Kent Latest Stat Neighbour - Not Available Latest National - 64.0%

Page 84



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 11 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

+3.2% +3.0% +2.4% +2.5% +2.4% +2.4% +1.8% +1.9% +1.7% +0.9% +1.8% +2.7% +2.2%

Number of children who have not had their review health assessment within timescale by Age

Of the 165 children above, number where the most recent Health Assessment was refused

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Regular monitoring of performance takes place and there is close liaison between the ‘Lead’ and social care teams and the 
providers and NHS Commissioners.  An exercise has taken place to review those young people who did not have a health 
assessment within timescale so there is intelligence about the reasons for red status.  Reasons include refusal by young people, 
staffing capacity issues within the LSC nursing team resulting in some timescales being slightly missed and difficulties in accessing 
health assessments for children who are placed outside of Kent.

Commentary

% of Review Health assessments held within required timescale

Theme Health & Wellbeing

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Lead Sarah Skinner This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care who have been looked after for at least 
12 months at the end of the reporting period and had their annual health assessment.PID Reference K20

Current RAG Amber - 86.7%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

7 6 

40 

102 

10 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

Children Currently Missing

Kent (exc. Missing)

10-15 Yrs 
10 

15% 

16-17 Yrs 
57 

85% 

Page 85



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 12 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

+0.0% +0.1% +0.8% +0.5% +0.7% +1.2% +0.7% +1.0% +1.2% +1.1% +0.9% +1.4% +0.8%

Number and percentage of children who have not had their dental checks within timescale by Age

Placement types of the 76 (63.3%) children aged 16+ who did not have their dental checks within timescale

A significant number of those children/young people who did not have a dental check-up within timescale are aged 
16+ and they have refused. A review of the remaining 43 children/young people who are showing as ‘red’ is being 
undertaken to ensure the data recorded on Liberi is accurate and for there to be follow up with social 
workers/foster carers to encourage a dental appointment to be arranged

Lead Sarah Skinner This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care who have been looked after for at least 
12 months at the end of the reporting period who had their teeth checked by a dentist.PID Reference K21

Commentary

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale

Theme Health & Wellbeing

Current RAG Green - 90.4%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

29 

16 

8 
6 6 

4 4 3 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Leaving Care KCC Foster Care IFA Relatives and
Friends

KCC Residential P&V Other Placed with
Parents

0-4 Yrs 
1 

1% 

5-9 Yrs 
13 

11% 

10-15 Yrs 
30 

25% 

16-17 Yrs 
76 

63% 

Page 86



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 13 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

-3.9% -14.3% -19.0% +3.1% +12.2% +15.7% +23.0% +22.1% +21.3% +20.7% +19.4% +18.7% +9.9%

Intensive work has taken place by several teams within SCS since December 2015 which has resulted in an improved referral rate, 
with March 2016 seeing an 80% of referrals made within timescale as opposed to only 7% seen in October 2015. This work is 
ongoing and quality assurance is also underway to ensure the data held on the SCS data system accurately reflects activity.  The 
guidance for social workers has been updated and refreshed with an escalation process agreed for NHS colleagues to use when a 
problem is identified.

Commentary

Of those Children in Care (CIC) becoming looked after (BLA) in a period, the percentage of those 
whose referral to Health for their Initial Health Assessment (IHA) is made by Kent Specialist 
Children’s Services (SCS) within 5 working days of BLA date.

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment Referral was requested more than 5 days after their period of care 
started by age and legal status

% of Initial Health Assessments referrals made within 5 days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

Current RAG Red - 34.0%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Percentage of Health Assessment Referrals Completed in Timescale 
by Month Health Assessment Referral Due (inc UASC)

Number of children who went missing within 5 days of their period of 
care starting or went missing between the IHA referral being made 
and the 20 day IHA timescale

Lead Sarah Skinner
PID Reference K27

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

16 9 

253 

519 

67 27 

28 

9 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care

Accommodated

44% 

74% 

62% 

21% 
14% 13% 

7% 

26% 

50% 

81% 
74% 

80% 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

94 60 
140 185 70 

34 

225 

392 

13 
2 

56 

136 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded

Outside Timescale

Within Timescale

63 

14 

16 

22 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

Missing within 5 days Missing Between Referral Made and
20 days

Non UASC

UASC

Page 87



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 14 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

-1.5% -1.3% -0.6% -0.3% -0.1% +0.1% -0.9% -1.7% -1.5% -1.3% -1.4% -1.4% -1.0%

Lead Naintara Khosla This indicator is an important measure of the stability of care that a child has experienced. On the 
whole stability is associated with better outcomes – placement instability was highlighted by the 
Social Exclusion Unit as a key barrier to improving educational outcomes.PID Reference K16

Current RAG Red - 12.5%

Placement Stability is a focus for the corporate parenting service and there is a focus on placement matching.  Ensuring that there is good 
placement planning with delegated authority in place to support the right placement for both the children and foster carers.  Further 
developments include identifying early placement difficulties and setting up robust stability meetings that provide practical support necessary 
for foster carers and looked after children to manage challenges in the placement. Analysis is to be undertaken on the impact of a lack of full-
time schooling on placement stability.

CIC Placement Stability: 3 or more moves in the last 12 months

Theme Placements

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Children in Care with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months as  
at March 2016 by the number of placements

Ages of the children moving placements 3 or more times in 
the last 12 months

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

No. of Placements for children moving placements 3 or more times in the last 
12 months child's age and by Planned / Unplanned move

No. of Placements for CIC with 3 or more placements in the last 12
months as at March 2016 by Area and Planned / Unplanned move

Commentary

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent inc. UASC Kent exc. UASC Latest Stat Neighbour Ave 11.4%
Latest National Ave 11.0%

4%
5%
6%
7%
8%
9%

10%
11%
12%
13%
14%

17 23 
67 55 

20 

108 

0

50

100

150

200

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16-17 Yrs

Kent (exc. UASC)

UASC

198 

52 
22 10 5 1 2 

0

50

100

150

200

250

1 
76 33 4 33 18 

241 

4 3 1 7 
3 

64 
23 

1 
8 17 

77 

2 3 11 16 
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350

Al
le

ga
tio

n 
(s

47
)

Ca
re

r r
eq

ue
st

s p
la

ce
m

en
t

en
d 

du
e 

to
 c

hi
ld

's
be

ha
vi

ou
r

Ca
re

r r
eq

ue
st

s p
la

ce
m

en
t

en
d 

ot
he

r t
ha

n 
du

e 
to

ch
ild

's 
be

ha
vi

ou
r

Ch
an

ge
 in

 th
e 

st
at

us
 o

f a
pl

ac
em

en
t o

nl
y

Ch
an

ge
to

/I
m

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
Ca

re
 P

la
n

Ch
ild

 re
qu

es
ts

 p
la

ce
m

en
t

en
d

O
th

er

Re
sig

na
tio

n/
cl

os
ur

e 
of

pr
ov

isi
on

Re
sp

on
sib

le
/A

re
a

au
th

or
ity

 re
qu

es
ts

pl
ac

em
en

t e
nd

St
an

da
rd

s o
f C

ar
e

co
nc

er
n

N
ot

 R
ec

or
de

d

Planned Move
Unplanned Move

54 
98 

55 71 
135 

6 2 

44 

70 

26 
31 

49 

2 3 
0

50

100

150

200

250

N
or

th
 K

en
t

Ea
st

 K
en

t

So
ut

h 
Ke

nt

W
es

t K
en

t

As
yl

um

Di
sa

bi
lit

y 
Se

rv
ic

e

O
th

er

Planned Move
Unplanned Move

Page 88



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 15 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

-0.1% -1.3% -0.0% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1% +0.2% +0.2% +0.1% +0.2% -0.1%

0-4 Yrs 5-10 Yrs 11-15 Yrs Total 0-4 Yrs 5-10 Yrs 11-15 Yrs Total

1 102 206 309 2 41 65 105

17 37 54 12 17 29

8 8 4 14 18

10 8 18 1 1 2

2 2 3 2 7 12

1 2 3 4 4

3 3 1 1

Lead Naintara Khosla This indicator is an important measure of the stability of care that a child has experienced. On the 
whole stability is associated with better outcomes – placement instability was highlighted by the 
Social Exclusion Unit as a key barrier to improving educational outcomes.PID Reference K17

Current RAG Amber - 69.9%

CIC Placement Stability: Same Placement for the last 2 years

Theme Placements

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Commentary

Number of children looked after for 2.5 years and of those the number in the same placement for at least 2 years by 
Placement Type

KCC Foster Care

IFA

P&V

Relatives and Friends

Performance against this target remains good with almost 70% of children in care remaining in the same placement 
for at least 2 years. The statistical neighbour average for this indicator is 66.6%.

Same placement for at least 2 years Not in same placement for at 2 years

Placed with Parents

Age's of the children moving placements 3 or more times in the last 12 months

KCC Residential

Placed for Adoption

Other

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent inc. UASC
Kent exc. UASC Latest Stat Neighbour - 66.6% Latest National - 67.0%

33% 

100% 

71% 

59% 

91% 

33% 

76% 
69% 

36% 

89% 

22% 

75% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

KCC Foster Care IFA P&V Relatives and
Friends

Placed with
Parents

KCC Residential Placed for
Adoption

Other

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs

Page 89



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 16 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

+1.9% +1.9% +1.3% +3.3% +4.4% +5.6% +9.2% +10.2% +10.4% +10.1% +10.0% +10.3% +6.5%

% of CIC in Foster Care placements that are either KCC Foster Care or Relatives 
and Friends (Exc. UASC)

Theme Placements

More than 85% of children and young people in care are placed in in-house foster carers or with relatives/friends 
(excluding UASC). Placement start information (transformation programme) shows more than 85% placements are 
made with in-house carers month on month.

Lead Naintara Khosla This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care placed with relatives and friends or in 
KCC Fostering placements as a percentage of all Kent Children in Care.PID Reference

Age's of the children placed in IFA's and P&V's as at March 2016

Commentary

Current RAG Green - 87.2%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Children placed in IFA's and P&V's within 20 miles of their home as at March 2016

70%
72%
74%
76%
78%
80%
82%
84%
86%
88%
90%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent inc. UASC Kent exc. UASC

50%
55%
60%
65%
70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

9 30 

247 

140 

9 30 

130 

62 
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16-17 Yrs

Inc. UASC

Exc. UASC

90 

10 

23 

2 

167 

82 

23 

2 

IFA - Inside Kent

IFA - Outside Kent

P&V - Inside Kent

P&V - Outside Kent

0 50 100 150 200 250

Exc. UASC

Inc. UASC

Page 90



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 17 of 28

Definition

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs Total

15 15 60 33 123

11 8 28 21 68

1 4 16 14 35

1 5 9 13 28

2 1 2 2 7

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference
Current RAG Green - 81.4%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% of CIC in Foster Care placed within 20 miles from home (exc. UASC & placed 
for adoption)

Theme Placements

There is good performance in relation to maintaining the numbers of young people placed at more than 20 miles 
from Kent at a low of 75 children and this is 5.9% of the total number of looked after children in Kent.  The figures 
for looked after children placed in residential establishments excludes UASC who are placed in a residential 
reception centre. In excess of 80% are placed within 20 miles from home and are in foster care

Distance from home for those placed further than 20 miles 
away from home by age

Number of children placed further than 20 miles away 
from home by team

Commentary

Please note, prior to April 2015, this indicator was set at 10 miles

Unable to Map

20-30 Miles

30-50 Miles

50-100 Miles

100 Miles+

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent Exc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

20-30 Miles 30-50 Miles 50-100 Miles 100 Miles+ Unable to Map

44 

56 

60 

65 

36 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

North

East

South

West

Disability

Page 91



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 18 of 28

Definition

Apr 15 May 15 Jun 15 Jul 15 Aug 15 Sep 15 Oct 15 Nov 15 Dec 15 Jan 16 Feb 16 Mar 16 Ave

-1.5% -2.3% -5.3% -5.8% -5.5% -6.4% -7.6% -5.0% -4.2% -1.8% -1.3% -1.1% -4.0%

Lead Naintara Khosla This indicator shows the percentage of Kent Children in Care placed in residential placements as a 
percentage of all Kent Children in CarePID Reference K29

% of CIC in residential placements

Theme Placements

UASC have now been excluded from this indicator as H5 residential accommodation relates to UASC children placed in a reception facility. This 
measure will not match the national definition so cannot be used for comparison with national rates and statistical neighbours. The indicator 
has been amended to provide a more accurate reflection of those in residential settings as this is currently distorted by the inclusion of the 
Reception Centres (which are not residential homes). A review of the supervision to foster carers so that there is a focus on parenting solutions; 
developing and enhancing foster carer resilience;  providing information and knowledge to manage the trauma experiences of looked after 
children.

Placement type split for the children placed in residential placements

Commentary

Current RAG Green - 5.9%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 
and inc. UASC

Distance placed away from home for children placed in residential placements

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent inc. UASC Kent exc. UASC

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

H5 - Residential 
accommodation 

6 
8% 

K1 - 
Secure 

unit 
1 

1% 

K2 - Homes and Hostels 
62 

84% 
R1 - Residential care home 

4 
6% 

S1 - All Residential schools 
1 

1% 

Placed further than 20 Miles 
73 

100% 

Page 92



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 19 of 28

Definition

51 of the 92 cases that have had an agency decision for adoption between April 2015 through to March 2016, had adoption agreed as the plan by the 2nd Review 
(55.4%). Of the remaining 41 cases, 22 had a plan for adoption agreed at the 3rd Review.The definition for this measure requires Adoption to be the sole plan at 
the 2nd Review, which is a maximum of four months after a child becomes ‘Looked After’ by the Local Authority. Some children will however have had more than 
2 reviews within this timescale. The performance for the number were adoption was agreed as the plan within four months is 55.4% (51 of the 92 children).For a 
number of children alternative plans were still being considered at the second review and this will be the correct course of action for these children.

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference A01

Commentary

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan by the 2nd review by how many reviews it took for to be 
agreed

Current RAG Red - 55.4%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan by the 2nd review by age and gender

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan by the 2nd review (Children 
with an Agency Decision)

Theme Adoption

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

50%
55%
60%
65%
70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

Not Agreed as care plan 
12 

29% 

3rd Review 
22 

54% 

4th Review 
3 

7% 

5th Review 
2 

5% 

7+ Reviews 
2 

5% 

2 

7 

3 
1 2 1 1 1 2 

1 

6 

3 

1 
1 3 4 

1 
1 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 8 9

Female

Male

Page 93



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 20 of 28

Definition

The year to date figure has seen a decrease in the average length of time between a child coming into care and moving in with 
their adoptive family. The figure for the last quarter demonstrates improved performance for this period. For the 103 children 
adopted in 2015/16, 32 exceeded this timescale although for some this delay was in the best interests of the child and all 
resulted in a positive outcome of adoption. One case was a significant outlier due to a lengthy inter-country adoption. If this case 
were excluded from the calculation the year-to-date average would be reduced.

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference A08

Commentary

Ave days between 'child becoming Looked After' and 'being Placed for Adoption' (Adopted Children) by placement type and 
gender

Current RAG Amber - 499.4

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Ave days between 'child becoming Looked After' and 'being Placed for Adoption' (Adopted Children) by gender

Ave days between 'child becoming Looked After' and 'being Placed for 
Adoption' (Adopted Children)

Theme Adoption

350

400

450

500

550

600

650

700

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone
Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - 679 Latest National Ave - 628

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

548.9 

403.1 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Male Female

1363.0 

854.8 

497.1 

858.3 

409.3 355.4 

1060.2 

687.8 

451.5 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

A3 - Placed for adoption with consent (under
section 19 of the 2002 Act) with current foster

carer

A5 - Placed for adoption with placement order
(under section 21 of the 2002 Act) with current

foster carer

A6 - Placed for adoption with placement order
(under section 21 of the 2002 Act) not with current

foster carer

Male

Female

Both

Page 94



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 21 of 28

Definition

There have been 92 Adoptions from April 2015 to March 2016. One adoption in August had a significant impact on this indicator. This was an inter-
country adoption which involved a very complex legal process. The child became Looked After in 2008 and was granted a Placement Order in July 2009. 
The match was agreed by the Agency Decision Maker in March 2015. This is 2067 days and has heavily weighted the average days from Court Authority 
(the Placement Order) to a Matching Agency Decision. If this child was excluded from the calculation the average number of days reduces. In total there 
were 31 of the 92 adoptions that were outside of this timescale measurement of 121 days. Whilst the timescale for this measure may have been 
exceeded for these cases the end result is a positive outcome for each of these children who have now been adopted.

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference A06

Commentary

Current RAG Amber - 222.1

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Average days from 'placement order being granted' to 'agency decision to match', for Children who have been Adopted by 
gender

Average days from 'placement order being granted' to 'agency decision to match', for Children who have been Adopted by 
placement type and gender

Average number of days from 'Agency Decision to adopt' to 'Placement Order 
being granted'

Theme Adoption

90
110
130
150
170
190
210
230
250

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent

0

50

100

150

200

250

763.0 

461.4 

205.0 

1,036.5 

295.0 
115.9 

899.8 

399.0 

176.3 
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

A3 - Placed for adoption with consent (under
section 19 of the 2002 Act) with current foster

carer

A5 - Placed for adoption with placement order
(under section 21 of the 2002 Act) with current

foster carer

A6 - Placed for adoption with placement order
(under section 21 of the 2002 Act) not with current

foster carer

Male

Female

Both

240.3 

185.9 

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

240

260

Male Female

Page 95



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 22 of 28

Definition

The calculation for this performance measure uses a national definition which is the number of children adopted in the year as a percentage of 
all those who cease to be Children in Care (Looked After). This includes Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). During the year 450 
UASC have ceased to be Children in Care. This has resulted in a notable decrease in the performance rate. If UASC are excluded from the 
calculation performance is 15.4%, which is above the Target set for the year. Representations will be made to the DFE to have UASC excluded 
from the reporting of this indicator in order to ensure that figures provided are an accurate reflection of performance.

Lead Naintara Khosla
PID Reference A12

Commentary

Current RAG Red - 9.2%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted by age and gender

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted by end reason and gender

% who ceased to be Looked After who were adopted

Theme Adoption

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Latest Stat Neighbour Ave - 14.9% Latest National Ave - 14%
Kent exc UASC

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

7 

19 

6 
9 

5 7 
10 

4 
1 

4 

13 

6 
4 

1 
1 

2 

3 

1 

11 

32 

12 13 

6 
8 

12 

7 

2 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Female

Male

41 
27 

22 

13 

63 

40 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

E11 - Adopted – application unopposed E12 - Adopted, consent dispensed with

Female

Male

Page 96



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 23 of 28

Definition

This particular cohort within this government return continues to contain young people that have been closed to the services or are long term missing. It has 
therefore not been previously possible to report on the accommodation of this group. However the exercise re reviewing closed cases has now been completed 
and a new cohort of young people have been identified whose cases are in the process of being re-opened and contact re-established. This new contact should 
result in an improvement in these figures. This figure may continue to fluctuate until the contact has been re-established. The 0-25 yrs strategy is also working on 
more appropriate accommodation solutions being in place for this cohort of young people. The 18plus service currently is reporting 90.93% of the young people 
on its caseload that it is in contact with who are in suitable accommodation which is an increase on the figures quoted on the government returns

Commentary

Current RAG Amber - 63.8%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Number of Care leavers in suitable accommodation (who Kent who are in contact with)

Number of Care leavers in unsuitable accommodation (who Kent who are in contact with)

67.5%
PID Reference

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation

Theme Care Leavers % of Care Leavers that Kent is 
in touch withLead Sue Clifton

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Latest Statistical Neighbour Ave - 76.3% Latest National Ave - 77.8%
Exc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

149 

16 

176 171 

10 6 

372 

1 16 44 
1 

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400

5 
1 3 1 

4 

20 

2 

10 

32 

3 

15 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

Page 97



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 24 of 28

Definition

Work is ongoing with colleagues from skills and employability, VSK and CXK to improve the ETE opportunities available to young people. An ETE 
strategy is being developed. Current figures for all young people that the service is in contact with in respect of ETE is 58.32% this is an increase 
on the current government returns which is for a specific cohort. The 18plus service is working with Thanet Community Service and DWP on a 
6week pilot project which is expected to help improve employment skills and opportunities for Care leavers in the Thanet area. As contact is re-
established with the identified cohort then this figure is also expected to show a continuing improvement

Commentary

Care leavers in employment, education or training

Theme Care Leavers

Number of Care leavers in employment, education or training by type of employment, education or training

Current RAG Amber - 40.9%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% of Care Leavers that Kent is 
in touch with

67.5%

Lead Sue Clifton
PID Reference

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone
Kent Latest Statistical Neighbour Ave - 42.9% Latest National Ave - 45.0%
Exc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

44 

267 

167 

61 

78 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

F1 - Young person engaged
full time in higher education
(i.e. studies beyond A level)

F2 - Young person in full time
education other than higher

education

F3 - Young person in full time
training or employment

P2 - Young person in part
time education other than

higher education

P3 - Young person in part
time training or employment

Page 98



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 25 of 28

Definition

Work has now taken place and it has been identified that a number of young people contained in this cohort will 
require their cases to be re-opened. This exercise of contacting and re-opening cases is now taking place. This should 
result in an improvement in this figure. Managers monitoring of young people we are not in contact with and who 
are missing takes place on a fortnightly basis and actions discussed with the personal advisers as to methods of re-
engagement. This work remains of priority for the service

Commentary

% of Care Leavers we are in contact with

Theme Care Leavers

Number of male care leavers Kent is in contact with by age Number of female care leavers Kent is in contact with by age

Gender of the care leavers Kent is in contact with

Current RAG Amber - 70.2%

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

% of Care Leavers that Kent is 
in touch with

67.5%

Lead Sue Clifton
PID Reference

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent Exc. UASC

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

8 

93 92 74 59 
5 

150 
101 

56 
51 

13 

243 

193 

130 
110 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

17 18 19 20 21

Exc UASC
UASC

10 

94 

63 
77 82 

19 

5 

11 8 

10 

113 

68 

88 90 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

17 18 19 20 21

UASC

Exc UASC

Male 
689 
65% 

Female 
369 
35% 

Page 99



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 26 of 28

Definition

Definition

Caseloads within the CIC teams remain relatively stable though we have seen a slight upturn over the last quarter to 
give an average of 16, which is one above the agreed target.  There are also some localised variations with higher 
caseloads in East Kent and the newly confirmed establishments have taken account of this.

Lead Philip Segurola
PID Reference
Current RAG Amber - 16.0

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Commentary

Theme Staffing

Commentary

PID Reference
Current RAG Amber - 75.6%

Lead Philip Segurola

The recruitment and retention of qualified social workers continues to be a challenge.  Staffing numbers for the CIC 
teams have now been confirmed, based on a baseline of 380 UASC and recruitment will proceed on this expectation.  
Initiatives are being trialled in West Kent to bring in overseas workers on fixed term contracts as an alternative to 
the use of agency staff and we anticipate taking on around 50 newly qualified social workers this summer.

Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only)

% of caseholding posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW

Theme Staffing

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

60%
65%
70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

60%
65%
70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent

10

12

14

16

18

20

Page 100



Produced by: SC SCS Management Information
Publication Date: 05/05/2016 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 Q4 Page 27 of 28

Definition

The IRO Service expanded to meet the demand of the UASC arrivals in the latter part of 2015, with a net gain of 7 
locum IRO’s to deal specifically with the approximately 1000 additional young people in 2015. With many young 
people adopting a 01/01/--: DoB a significant proportion of the UASC population transferred into the 18+ Service in 
January. Additionally a growing number of UASC young people were transferred to other authorities under the 
Voluntary Dispersal scheme currently in operation. The rate of Citizen children entering and leaving care has been 
stable with no significant fluctuations impacting on the IRO establishment. As a result of the decrease in UASC 
numbers one Locum IRO post has been dispensed with and further reductions are being considered. Caseloads 
currently reflect the reduction in numbers of young people and the  spread across that wider IRO cohort.

5 Year trend graph (Apr 11 - Mar 16) Last 12 months

Commentary

Average Caseloads of IROs

Theme Staffing
Lead Philip Segurola
PID Reference
Current RAG Green - 66.9

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

RAG - Green Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Red Zone Kent

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

Page 101



This page has been intentionally left empty

Page 102


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 15 March 2016
	A3 Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 February 2016, and brief verbal update
	B1 Kent County Council Foster Carers Annual Survey 2016, in consultation with Kent Foster Carer Association (KFCA)
	B2 Kent County Council response to Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Children
	B3 Independent Reviewing Officer Service Annual Report
	B3 - App 1 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2015-16.Final

	B4 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent update report
	B4 - App 1 VSK PPpolicy 2016-17 Update

	B5 Performance Scorecard for Children In Care
	B5 - App 1 KCPG CIC Indicator Report - 2015-16 4th Qtr
	Title Page
	Guidance Notes
	Scorecard
	Impact of UASC
	Review Timescales
	Review Participation
	SW for 12 Months
	Exclusion and Absence
	KS2 Reading and Writing
	KS2 Maths and GCSE
	Health Ass
	Dental
	IHA Ref
	3+ Moves
	Stability Length
	KCC Foster Care or Rel
	20 Miles
	Residential
	Adpt agreed at 2nd review
	Ave BLA and Placed
	Ave Days Agency Dec to PO
	Ceased to be Looked After
	Suitable Accom
	EET
	In Contact
	Agency and QSW
	IROs
	Blank



